

Occasional Paper Series

Ettore Dorrucci, Demosthenes Ioannou, Francesco Paolo Mongelli, and Alessio Terzi The four unions "PIE" on the Monetary Union "CHERRY": a new index of European Institutional Integration



Note: This Occasional Paper should not be reported as representing the views of the European Central Bank (ECB). The views expressed are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the ECB.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Ad van Riet, Marta Wieczorek, Benoît Cœuré, David Clarke, Iñigo Arruga Oleaga, Philippe Moutot, Carmelo Salleo, Gilles Noblet, and Michaela Posch for helpful comments. We also received useful feedback at the 2013 Villa Mondragone Seminar in Rome, the CES Conference in Washington D.C. in March 2014, and the 45th Meeting of the ECB Committee on Financial Integration in September 2014. We would like to thank Rita Sapage and Sabine Prennig for helpful assistance. The views expressed in this paper do not necessarily reflect those of the European Central Bank, and we remain responsible for any errors or omissions. This paper is in memory of Tommaso Padoa-Schioppa, a scholar and architect of European integration.

© European Central Bank, 2015

Postal Address60640 Frankfurt am Main, GermanyTelephone+49 69 1344 0Internetwww.ecb.europa.eu

All rights reserved. Reproduction for educational and non-commercial purposes is permitted provided that the source is acknowledged

 ISSN
 1725-6534 (online)

 EU catalogue No
 QB-AQ-15-003-EN-N (online)

Any reproduction, publication and reprint in the form of a different publication, whether printed or produced electronically, in whole or in part, is permitted only with the explicit written authorisation of the ECB or the authors.

This paper can be downloaded without charge from http://www.ecb.europa.eu or from the Social Science Research Network electronic library at http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=2548992. Information on all of the papers published in the ECB Occasional Paper Series can be found on the ECB's website, http://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/scientific/ops/date/html/index.en.html

CONTENTS

ABSI	RACT		4
NON	-TECH	NICAL SUMMARY	5
i.	INTR	ODUCTION	8
2	AN IN	ISTITUTIONAL NARRATIVE OF EU ECONOMIC INTEGRATION	12
3	FOUN	DATIONS OF THE EURII INDEX	14
	3.1	Some basic definitions	14
	3.2	The EURII index and the Balassa framework of institutional integration	15
		Box 1 Five stages of Regional Institutional Integration: The Balassa framework	15
	3.3	At the roots of the EURII index: The first-generation Index of Regional Institutional Economic Integration (IRIEI)	16
4	METH	IODOLOGY TO CONSTRUCT THE EURII INDEX	18
	4.1	EURII captures institutional reforms	18
	4.2	Looking at the not-too-distant future	19
	4.3	a new governance framework is emerging.	19
	4.4	The structure of the EURII index	19
	4.5	Reasons to prefer this methodological approach to alternative approaches	20
5	(RE-)	MEASURING THE COMMON MARKET ERA	22
	5.1	Free Trade Area (FTA) and Customs Union (CU)	22
	5.2	Indicators used for the Internal Market (IM)	22
	5.3	Indicators used for the coordination of monetary and exchange policies (CME)	25
	5.4	Indicators used for the development of Supranational Institutions and Decision-making Bodies (SID)	26
6	MEAS	URING THE UNION ERA	28
	61	Indicators used for the Economic Union (EUN)	28
	6.2	Indicators used for the Monetary Union (MU)	29
	6.3	Indicators used for the Financial Market Union (FMU)	30
	6.4	Indicators used for the Fiscal Union (FIU)	31
		Indicators used for democratic legitimacy and accountability	34
7	MAIN	FINDINGS OF THE EURII INDEX	37
8	FINA	REMARKS	41
REFE	RENC	ES	42

CONTENTS

ECB Occasional Paper No 160 February 2015



ABSTRACT

This paper presents a European Index of Regional Institutional Integration (EURII), which maps developments in European integration from 1958 to 2014 on the basis of a monthly dataset. EURII captures what we call: (i) the "Common Market Era", which lasted from 1958 until 1993; and (ii) the first twenty years of the "Union Era" that started in 1994, but gained new impetus in response to the euro area crisis. The paper complements the economic narratives of the crisis with an institutional approach highlighting the remedies to the flaws in the initial design of Economic and Monetary Union (EMU). In fact, since 2010, EMU's institutional framework has been substantially reformed. While work on EMU's new governance is still in progress, the broad contours of a "genuine union" have been outlined in the Four Presidents' Report of December 2012. The report envisages a more effective economic union, a fiscal union, a financial union, and a commensurate political union. The aim of the EURII index is threefold: (i) to provide a tool to synthesise and monitor the process of European institutional integration since 1958 and, in particular, track institutional reforms since 2010; (ii) to expand a previous integration index by showing that monetary unification – which was initially understood as "the cherry on the Internal Market pie" - implied a major discontinuity in the process and nature of European integration, that is, a new "pie on the cherry"; and (iii) to offer a tool for further research, policy analysis and communication.

JEL codes: F33, F42, N24.

Keywords: Economic and Monetary Integration, Euro, Institutions and Governance, Financial Deepening and Integration, Sovereign Crisis, Four Presidents' Report, Optimum Currency Area.



NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY

NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY

This paper presents the second generation of the European Index of Institutional Integration (in short, EURII), which was initially developed in Dorrucci et al. (2002). The second vintage of this index has been motivated by the global financial crisis and the sovereign crisis in the euro area. Both have exposed and exacerbated the weaknesses in the architecture of Europe's Economic and Monetary Union (EMU). EMU was established on the basis of the "blueprint" of the Treaty of Maastricht in the early 1990s, which itself was conceived in the late 1980s. Europe and the wider world were very different places at that time, for example, in terms of the degree of globalisation, as well as financial depth and sophistication. Yet, even then there was an awareness of the need to fill diverse institutional and governance gaps. Diverse recommendations in the 1989 Delors Report were watered down in the less ambitious compromise signed by the EU Member States on 7 February 1992. The view of the so-called monetarist field that the common currency would harmoniously act as a catalyst for further economic and political integration proved to be only partly true.

A catalyst for strengthening EMU's governance arose with the financial crisis, which became severe in the euro area in 2010. The prolonged and evolving crisis revealed several vulnerabilities in EMU's political economy, such as an inability to discourage excessive macroeconomic and financial intra-area imbalances or to have them smoothened out through policy tools and market forces such as those predicted by a theoretical optimum currency area model. Moreover, the euro area and the rest of the EU did not have a crisis management toolkit, which meant an escalation of the costs involved in dealing with the crisis. Even though the crisis is not over at the time of our writing, the institutional response to these developments in the euro area/EU may one day be considered remarkable by historical standards, in terms of both scope and pace. What is more, a broader assessment of the future of EMU has made progress at the highest policy level, thus providing some understanding of what a new "EMU steady state" might look like in the future.

Against this backdrop, the paper presents a quantitative index of the path of EMU-relevant institutional integration in Europe since the late 1950s. This novel monthly dataset takes account of the institutional responses to the euro area crisis from 2010 until 2014 (see summary chart below). It is articulated along two overarching periods of institutional integration: (i) the "Common Market Era", from 1958 until 1993; and (ii) the "Union Era" thereafter. The vertical blue line marks the boundary between eras. For reasons explained in the paper, a maximum score of 50 points is assigned to each of these periods, with the index starting at 0 on 1 January 1958 (when the Treaty of Rome entered into force) and then making progress up to the current cumulated value of around 78.8 as at 1 January 2015. The gap between 100 points– i.e., the maximum total score that would be assigned in the index if all objectives of the Common Market and Union Eras were fully accomplished – and the current score, gives an indication of the distance still to be covered until a "new perceived steady state" is achieved in the process of European economic integration under EMU.

Concerning the Common Market Era, the most prominent achievements are the European Internal Market – also referred to as the Single Market – alongside various supra-national institutions and laws. EURII draws on previous research, such as the traditional Balassa classification of regional economic integration recognising "five stages" of integration. Regional economic integration starts with a free trade area and customs union (stages 1 and 2, which the six founding members of the European Economic Community had already accomplished by 1968), as well as the gradual build-up of the European Internal Market (stage 3, which to a significant, but not full extent was



finalised in 1993). During these 35 years, some degree of coordination of, for instance, monetary and exchange rate policies was also set up (stage 4) alongside a number of institutions, laws and decision-making processes which can be defined as – though to different degrees – supranational in nature (stage 5). Given the final goal of a fully-fledged common market, this process was not too far from being completed in the early 1990s, though additional work needed (and still needs) to be done to complete the Internal Market.

However, the start of Stage Two of EMU in 1994 and, even more, of EMU's Stage Three in 1999, implied a major discontinuity in the integration process. The introduction of the euro was not just, as some would have argued, a "cherry on the pie", with the pie being the completion of the EU Internal Market. It rather implied what in this paper we call a new – and gigantic – "pie on the cherry". This is because the initial version of EMU, despite including some mechanisms for the coordination of national economic policies, proved unable to cope with the shocks emanating from the global crisis and even contributed to endogenously creating some of the preconditions for the euro area crisis.

In the Union Era, a new set of goals in the process of European integration were broadly identified in the Four Presidents' Report of December 2012 (Van Rompuy 2012), which sees the need to complement the monetary union with a more effective economic union, a fiscal union, a financial union, and a commensurate political union. The contours of the first three unions have been defined, though to different degrees. A series of detailed legislative acts – including a new Treaty on Stability, Coordination and Governance in the Economic and Monetary Union, better known as the Fiscal Compact – have been adopted in the past few years. Alongside legislation changing the nature of integration (e.g. Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive), new institutional structures have also been set up (e.g. Single Supervisory Mechanism and Single Resolution Mechanism under the financial/banking union). While not all goals identified in the Four Presidents' Report have been implemented, progress made in the first three unions has been tangible, with the European banking union probably being the most notable achievement so far.



ECB Occasional Paper No 160 February 2015

NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY

Concerning the political union, the European Council Conclusions of December 2012 state that "any new steps towards strengthening economic governance will need to be accompanied by further steps towards stronger legitimacy and accountability", and that this should be ensured "at the level at which decisions are taken and implemented". Political union remains, therefore, broadly undefined as it is seen in this context as the complement needed to be able to achieve the accountability and legitimacy of the economic governance developed in the other three unions, rather than as a process on its own. This explains the relatively low score given to political union in the EURII index. Not to deny that, "despite its predominantly economic content, the European Union is an eminently political construct. Even readers primarily interested in economics would hardly understand the euro if they ignored its political dimension." We do concur with this statement by Tommaso Padoa-Schioppa, to whose memory this paper is dedicated.

As for where the integration process currently stands after entering the Union Era in 1994, the index suggests that a major institutional quantum leap has taken place especially in the last few years. It is a leap which probably very few would have anticipated when the Maastricht Treaty was signed. This partly explains why there are benefits to measuring the integrative developments undertaken under the two main blocks of the index, that is, the Common Market Era and Union Era.

"Europe will be forged in crises, and will be the sum of the solutions adopted for those crises." Jean Monnet (1978)

"Despite its predominantly economic content, the European Union is an eminently political construct. Even readers primarily interested in economics would hardly understand the euro if they ignored its political dimension." Tommaso Padoa-Schioppa (2004)

I INTRODUCTION

The crisis of the euro area¹ has exposed and exacerbated several weaknesses and gaps in the architecture of Europe's Economic and Monetary Union (EMU), which are often lumped together as "flaws in EMU's design". EMU's political economy could not impede – and in part, it has been argued, endogenously fuelled² – the accumulation of substantial private and/or public debt in a number of its member countries. Nor could it prevent significant losses in competitiveness. Incentive structures proved to be poorly designed and badly implemented. When the sovereign crisis erupted in 2010, there were no financial backstops for either sovereigns or banks to counter the sudden stop in financial flows to some member countries. Several financial market segments collapsed. Then, adverse feedback loops built up between weak sovereigns, weak banks and weak economies (Schambaugh (2012)). This brought a risk of financial implosion in some countries, with Greece, Ireland and others experiencing bank runs. The deep trade, financial and monetary links within EMU became a vehicle of contagion, and break-up risks came to the fore.

However, these adverse developments have also spurred a rethinking and reshaping of institutional integration in Europe. Questions have been addressed, such as: *What would render a regional institutional framework such as EMU stable? What is needed for the euro area to become resilient to major financial and economic shocks, and display its benefits?* In replying to these questions, the crisis has taught hard lessons about the reforms needed. Since 2010 we have seen some of the most important institutional reforms in the 60 years of EU integration, including: enhanced fiscal governance, procedures to keep macroeconomic imbalances in check, a crisis management and resolution framework with financial backstops for sovereigns centred on the European Stability Mechanism, five far-reaching adjustment programmes, and the establishment of banking supervision (Single Supervisory Mechanism) and resolution (Single Resolution Mechanism, Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive, etc.). These institutional adjustments and, in some cases, innovations are covered in detail in this paper. The paper also shows how the euro area is being "re-forged" in line with Jean Monnet's prediction above.³

The aim of the paper is to present the *European Index of Regional Institutional Integration (EURII)*, which maps developments in European integration from 1958 to 2014. EURII is a second-generation index arising from previous work,⁴ and is organised into two main eras of European integration:

- The "Common Market Era", which displayed most of its effects between 1958, when the Treaty of Rome entered into force, and 1993. This era comprises the progressive construction
 - For a chronicle of the crisis, see Drudi, Durre and Mongelli (2013), and Durre, Maddaloni and Mongelli (2014).
- 2 See e.g. Fernández-Villaverde et al. (2013) and de Grauwe (2013).
- 3 The paper mainly focuses on the global financial crisis that started in 2007 and the euro crisis that started in 2010, not on earlier crises, such as the Bretton Woods collapse in 1971-73, the ERM crisis of 1992 and other past events that also "forged" Europe.
- 4 The first-generation Index of Regional Institutional Economic Integration (IRIEI) presented in Dorrucci et al. (2002, 2004) and Mongelli et al. (2007) is discussed later in this paper.

I INTRODUCTION

of a free trade area and customs union, and then of an internal market, coupled with increasing harmonisation, coordination and even unification of several policies, as well as with European institutions and laws. These components have proven resilient throughout the crisis. Euro area countries remain very integrated and interdependent; and

• The **"Union Era"** that started in 1994 with Stage Two of EMU and continued in 1999 with Stage Three. A description of the three Stages of EMU is provided in Chart 1.

The main argument of this paper is that the launch of EMU in the 1990s represented not only a substantial new step in the process of European integration. But EMU also implied a transformation whose consequences and implications were not fully understood at the time. A major discontinuity indeed materialised when Europe shifted from the Common Market Era to the Union Era in 1994. That is, the moment when the preparatory work for the launch of the euro started becoming more credible and binding. The nature of European integration changed in that moment.

As we see it, the introduction of the euro was not just – as some believed – a "*cherry on the pie*", with the cherry being the need to give up monetary autonomy and move to a monetary union in order to solve the "impossible trinity" implied by the EU Internal Market and fixed exchange rates. It rather implied a new "*pie on the cherry*", as monetary unification could not survive without economic,



fiscal, financial and, ultimately, political unification. Such a discontinuity in the history of Europe's regional institutional integration was in turn exacerbated by two additional factors. First, euro area countries have become more interconnected and interdependent than ever before; they are each other's direct stakeholders. The crisis has shown that events in any euro area member can rapidly spill over to the others through diverse channels of transmission. Second, EMU's governance was weak even when assessed against the original blueprint of the Delors Report (Delors *et al.* 1989). Although it included some mechanisms for the coordination of national policies, it proved unable to cope with the shocks emanating from the global crisis.

Thus, just updating the first-generation index of institutional integration as developed by Dorrucci, Firpo, Fratzscher and Mongelli (2002) would not have been enough. The new index needed to: (i) be *recalibrated* to take account of the significant functional dissonances set in motion by the monetary union, and (ii) incorporate the new dimensions of the Union Era.

The second-generation EURII index brings a change in perspective: it takes stock of the pillars of European integration but also anchors its scoring to the elements of a genuine union that are within reach, and can secure a robust and beneficial economic and monetary union.

In the Union Era, the framework on the way forward for European economic integration is outlined in the Four Presidents' Report of December 2012. The Report was commissioned at the June 2012 European Council where, inter alia, the euro area Heads of State or Government requested the work to begin on banking union. A second draft of the Report was then presented at the October 2012 European Council before being concluded in time for the December 2012 European Council summit. Given that there were some differences between the Reports, we take all of them as reference for the index (as well as potential next steps that may be taken).

The Four Presidents' Report (but also the Commission Blueprint of 2012) embed some important steps towards a "genuine EMU" that will be characterised by four main elements: (i) an integrated economic policy framework (*Economic Union*), (ii) an integrated budgetary framework going beyond the previous fiscal governance (*Fiscal Union*), (iii) a *Financial Union* comprising a Single Supervisory Mechanism, plus a shared resolution framework for the banking system, and (iv) a *Political Union* engaging citizens more deeply in European decision-making.

The advice of the Four Presidents' Report is to progress with the four unions in parallel. Nevertheless, as seen in practice in the past two years, the contours of such a "Genuine Union" are progressing at different speeds and are defined to different degrees. In some cases, a series of detailed legislative acts – including a new Treaty on Stability, Coordination and Governance (TSCG) signed by 25 of the (then) 27 EU Member States, better known as the Fiscal Compact and lying outside the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, TFEU – have been adopted since 2010, which deepen economic and fiscal integration. In other cases, new dimensions have been added to the process of integration and the rules of the Internal Market, for example, with the Bank Recovery and Resolution Mechanism. Some new institutional mechanisms have also been set up, notably the European Stability Mechanism (ESM), which is an intergovernmental body, and the Single Supervisory Mechanism under the Financial (or more narrowly Banking) Union. Indeed, although not all the goals identified in the Four Presidents' Report have been implemented yet, it can be confidently stated that the progress made in the first three unions has been tangible, with the European banking union probably being the most notable achievement so far.

I INTRODUCTION

Concerning the Political Union, the European Council conclusions of December 2012 state that "any new steps towards strengthening economic governance will need to be accompanied by further steps towards stronger legitimacy and accountability", and that this should be ensured "at the level at which decisions are taken and implemented". Given the nature of the Report, Political Union remains broadly undefined as it sees such a Political Union as the necessary complement to achieving the accountability and legitimacy of the economic governance developed in the other three unions, rather than as a process on its own. This also explains the relatively low score given to Political Union in the EURII index.

These four unions have limitations, concerning the extent by which they have been implemented and the extent by which they foresee all elements indispensable for a "genuine" EMU. Yet, they provide a broad map for the way forward in terms of further integration. They help constructing an index for, and quantify, EU institutional integration in this paper.

The index of **EU Regional Institutional Integration (EURII)** is thus anchored by the new building blocks of EMU under the Union Era, the contours of which is now taking shape, and builds on the Common Market Era. A maximum score of 50 is assigned to each era, and thus the index can reach a maximum score of 100. Following a rapid rise in the past few years, the index stands at 78.8 as of 1 January 2015. Only decisions that have already been taken enter the index. It is foreseen in the Four Presidents' Report, even if in a vague manner, and not yet implemented or even decided upon is not included. Is seen as what could become operational to reach a maximum score of 100. Indeed, the gap in institutional integration to be filled under the Union Era is, currently, greater than the gap of the Common Market era in 1993.

The paper is organised a follows. Section 2 briefly recalls what went wrong in the run-up to the euro area crisis and what had to be addressed by the EMU's governance reforms. Some of the roots of the euro area crisis are very old. Section 3 discusses the theoretical foundations of our EURII index, and the Balassa stages of integration. Section 4 describes the methodology behind the new EURII index, and explains why simply updating the original index was not an option. Instead, the index had to be fully reconsidered and recalibrated and enriched with several new components. Section 5 presents the scoring for the Common Market Era in a step-by-step way and the distribution of nearly all of the 50 points of the EURII index. Section 6 then presents the scoring of the Union Era in a step-by-step way: about half of the 50 points are assigned unevenly across the various components/ stages. Section 7 brings together the main findings and scores for both the Common Market Era and the Union Era. Section 8 qualifies these findings and offers some final remarks.

Several caveats apply to our analysis. Ratification and transposition into national law does not guarantee immediate application or enactments of the various steps; thus, there can be differences between *de jure* and *de facto* institutional integration. Also, our measure of legitimacy and accountability is necessarily limited. Moreover, the impact and effectiveness of institutional reforms may have long and varying lags which are only partly captured by the index. Finally, EU integration is a process and, as such, may not only lack some envisaged steps, but during critical phases it may even lack coherence (see Haas (1958), Meade (1958) and Sapir (2011)).

2 AN INSTITUTIONAL NARRATIVE OF EU ECONOMIC INTEGRATION

The EURII index allows us to complement the economic narratives of the crisis – i.e., the fiscal, competitiveness and banking narratives – with an institutional narrative.⁵ Starting from the economic narratives, early on during the crisis a *"fiscal narrative"* prevailed, prompted by the public finance crisis in Greece. A number of authors noted that the "preventive arm" of the Stability and Growth Pact had failed to thwart persistent budget deficits and encourage significant reduction in existing debt, in good times. Then the "corrective arm" was unable to force fiscal corrections where necessary (see Schuknecht, Moutot, Rother and Stark (2011)). Such flaws in fiscal governance were then coupled with macroeconomic imbalances going beyond what public finances could account for.

To ensure that structural convergence efforts would not stop with the launch of the euro, the EU Lisbon Strategy was introduced into the economic policy coordination framework in 2000 to encourage product and labour market reforms and spur competitiveness where it was eroded.⁶ However, these mechanisms did not prevent certain euro area countries from experiencing continuous erosions of competitiveness, leading to the accumulation of current account deficits in the presence of rigid labour and product markets, low growth in productivity and innovation, and excessive private borrowing. Thus, a *"competitiveness narrative"* of the crisis also developed, according to which divergences in unit labour costs were the ultimate reason behind the formation of current account imbalances across the euro area (see e.g. Sinn and Valentinyi (2013) and, for a critique, Wyplosz (2012)).

Over time, a *"banking narrative"* has also gained ground. Real estate and other asset bubbles fuelled by excessive credit growth and capital inflows, which artificially supported demand in several countries, were indeed a key explanatory factor of the crisis in countries such as Spain or Ireland. Excessive private and public leverage laid the ground for the sudden capital stops experienced since 2010. This narrative stresses that it was the banking system inside the single financial market that enabled imbalances to accumulate for a long period by providing "cheap" financing across the euro area (see e.g. Constâncio (2013)). In particular, factors such as the low-yield environment and the liberalisation of European and international capital markets had ushered in an era of unprecedented capital mobility and credit growth which was not accompanied by appropriate regulation and supervision either in the EU/euro area or in the global economy. At the same time, financial market "self-discipline" also failed. Banks and other financial market participants, such as credit rating agencies, did not sufficiently discriminate between debt issuers with different debt sustainability prospects. In fact, in the initial years after adoption of the euro, the cost of sovereign borrowing converged to an unprecedented degree.⁷

6 This strategy was based on the open method of coordination as the main economic and employment policy coordination mechanisms of the Treaty (Articles 121 and 148). Under the Maastricht Treaty the coordination of economic policies should have been treated as "a matter of common concern", but it proved to be ineffective.

⁵ EMU's political economy raised concerns even before the launch of the euro. There were warnings about sharing a single market and a currency while national fiscal, economic and financial policies remained weakly coordinated (see Padoa-Schioppa (2000) and (2004b), and the review by McNamara (2013)). Sims (1999) presciently asked if EMU's institutions could deal with "stress". Krugman (1993 and 1998) and Feldstein (1998) doubted that the euro area could ever function because of, among other reasons, a lack of supranational fiscal arrangements, such as the US federal budget, and a low degree of political union. For a review of the critical stance of US academic, see Jonung and Drea (2009).

⁷ The critical role of the banking sector in the Internal Market was for a long time underestimated in both the academic and the policy debate – an exception being Padoa-Schioppa (2001). Apart from the provision of "cheap" financing through rising cross-border financial activity throughout the Union, a specific problem that emerged during the euro area crisis was that the single monetary policy still had to be transmitted in a regime of national banking supervision, coupled with wide discrepancies in the European financial regulation and national deposit insurance frameworks. Against this backdrop, academics such as Eichengreen, Obstfeld, Rogoff, Bordo and Kenen pointed to various flaws in EMU's architecture and, specifically, to a lack of centralised banking supervision and lender of last resort for sovereigns. Another important issue was heterogeneity across banks. Financial fragmentation was one of the manifestations of the crisis, which in turn implied uneven transmission of the single monetary policy across stressed and non-stressed euro area countries. The so-called financial trilemma (Schoenmaker (2005), (2011)) of European financial integration, European financial stability and national prudential supervision had not been addressed.

Against the background of these three main economic narratives, the index developed in this paper proposes a complementary "institutional narrative" of the crisis. The index shows that European institutions and rules did not keep pace with developments in the economic and monetary sphere. The Treaty of Maastricht was agreed in the late 1980s and then ratified by all EU Member States in the early 1990s, when both Europe and the world were very different and real and financial linkages were looser. The crisis showed how decentralised economic, fiscal and financial policies entailed problematic incentive structures that amplified the imbalances under the previous narratives: i.e., systemic risks were to some extent endogenous.

Moreover, no crisis resolution mechanism or financial backstops for either sovereigns or banks existed prior to the crisis. Why this omission? Probably it was considered that market forces would by themselves play a disciplinary role across the single financial market, underpinned by the prohibition of bailing out public creditors. With hindsight, EMU's institutional framework was based on the assumption that countries could keep their own houses in order (as some did) and that in a crisis the necessary adjustments would be possible through market mechanisms.

The implications were severe and could have been even more devastating if a crisis management framework had not been deployed with, at its centre, the European Financial Stability Facility (EFSF) in 2011 and the European Stability Mechanism (ESM) in 2013. The euro area found itself on the verge of a financial meltdown on several occasions (see e.g. Durre *et al.* (2013)). The euro area's governance shortcomings in the face of the crisis have elicited efforts to strengthen the foundations of EMU and, more generally, the EU. A new European governance framework, whose contours are not yet completely defined, is now taking shape.

Whichever narrative one adopts, the crisis showed that EMU needed to be completed in one way or another, requiring a number of institutional integration steps. Subsequently, the metaphor of EMU and the euro in particular being initially understood just as a sort of "cherry on the pie", with the pie being the EU's Internal Market, did not seem to hold any longer. This would have been the view of the Committee chaired by the President of the European Commission, Jacques Delors, which prepared the ground for the Maastricht Treaty's EMU architecture. His report presented the roadmap for EMU in April 1989. It called, for example, for EU rules and procedures in the macroeconomic and budgetary field to "become binding".⁸ All in all, the report concluded, "countries would have to accept that sharing a common market and a single currency area imposed policy constraints" (Delors et al. 1989). These recommendations were not sufficiently mirrored either in the Maastricht Treaty or in ensuing Treaty revisions (at Nice, Amsterdam or even Lisbon). In addition, initiatives such as the Stability and Growth Pact (SGP), which was added in 1997 in an attempt to correct the shortcomings of the Maastricht Treaty, or the Lisbon Strategy of 2000, did not provide for an appropriate governance to avoid the global financial crisis from taking a stronghold in the EU. Macroeconomic and fiscal governance eventually proved inadequate while the expected market discipline also did not provide an adequate substitute for the institutional gap.⁹ In the end, the crisis initiated a number of integrative steps that are captured under the pillars of the Four Presidents' Report and reflected in the index.

8 According to the Delors Report, the ECOFIN Council, in cooperation with the European Parliament, should have had the "authority to take directly enforceable decisions, i.e. to impose constraints on national budgets to the extent to which this was necessary to prevent imbalances that might threaten monetary stability". The report also proposed "discretionary changes in Community resources (...) to supplement structural transfers to Member States or to influence the overall policy stance in the Community", as well as "multilateral surveillance of economic developments and policies based on agreed indicators (...) and recommendations" so as to promote "the necessary corrections in national policies".

9 Both the preventive and corrective arms of the Stability and Growth Pact (SGP) did not encourage faster deficit and debt reduction. As Mayer (2012) observes, even the *Werner Plan of 1970*, which was never implemented, had envisaged the establishment of a "*centre of decision for economic policy*", politically accountable to the European Parliament, and exerting decisive influence over countries" economic policies (Werner *et al.* 1970). On the SGP failing to stem excessive deficits and debts in EU Member States, see Ioannou and Stracca (2012).

2 AN INSTITUTIONAL NARRATIVE OF EU ECONOMIC INTEGRATION



3 FOUNDATIONS OF THE EURII INDEX

3.1 SOME BASIC DEFINITIONS

The EURII index measures regional institutional integration in the EU/euro area context. Before focusing on this specific context, however, a more general discussion is required of the concept of "regional institutional integration".

We define **regional institutional integration** as the joint policy decisions which two or more governments of countries belonging to the same geographic area take in order to deepen and/ or widen the spheres of common economic¹⁰ interest under the terms of an agreed arrangement, such as a pact or a treaty. According to this definition, arrangements could vary widely in form, ranging from narrow intergovernmental cooperation agreements (e.g. a preferential trade area) to fully-fledged unions with (partial and/or full) transfer of sovereignty to supranational institutions, as is the case in today's EU.

Regional institutional integration can be seen as part of a broader spectrum of policies designed to enhance economic integration¹¹ with one or more countries. Such policies, which can be named "**preferential arrangements**" (PAs), may or may not be regional in nature since they may be:

- multilateral (e.g. WTO-based Doha Round of multilateral trade negotiations),
- inter-regional (e.g. Yaoundé/Lomé Convention),
- regional (e.g. EU),
- sub-regional (e.g. euro area as compared with the whole EU, Andean Community and MERCOSUR as compared with the whole Latin American region, etc.),
- bilateral (e.g. Chile approach to PAs, and free trade agreements between the EU and several individual countries), and
- possibly even unilateral in nature, at least according to a broad definition of PAs¹² (e.g. a country either unilaterally anchoring its currency to a third currency or dollarizing/euroizing).

The above spectrum of PAs relates to the choice of the partners, i.e. the **scope** of PAs or their "horizontal dimension". But there is also a "vertical dimension" of PAs, which pertains to their **depth**, defined as the *final* objectives being pursued. According to the Balassa classification discussed in Section 3.2, such objectives consist of a wide spectrum ranging from Free Trade Arrangements (FTAs) to full unification of economic policies.

In conclusion, each country, regional arrangement, or territorial entity faces, at a given moment of its history, a menu of options pertaining to the scope and depth of PAs. Experience shows that such options are not necessarily mutually inconsistent, i.e. that several options may be adopted at the

¹⁰ Please note that we focus here on the economic dimension of regional institutional integration, but there are of course several other dimensions to which the general definitions in this sub-section would equally apply.

¹¹ The notion of economic integration in turn comprises real (i.e., related to trade, services and FDI), financial and monetary (including exchange rate) integration.

¹² The definition adopted in this paper is broad as PAs usually take the form of *mutual* agreements instead of *unilateral* decisions. However, a unilateral initiative may as well be "designed to enhance economic integration with one or more countries".

3 FOUNDATIONS OF THE EURII INDEX

same time. For instance, the EU is regional in nature, but also involved in multilateral, inter-regional, bilateral and sub-regional (e.g. Schengen, euro area) PAs, each presenting a different level of depth.

3.2 THE EURII INDEX AND THE BALASSA FRAMEWORK OF INSTITUTIONAL INTEGRATION

Regional institutional integration across the EU/euro area partner countries has been a process that has developed in several "stages", and displayed its effects over time. An index of institutional integration is meant to capture both the main features and timeline of such a process. The second-generation Index of EU Regional Institutional Integration (EURII) presented in this paper builds in part on the first-generation **Index of Regional Institutional Economic Integration (IRIEI)** presented in Dorrucci *et al.* (2002, 2004) and Mongelli *et al.* (2007). Both the IRIEI and the EURII indices are based on the Balassa framework of institutional integration (Balassa, 1961): its "five stages" are the building blocks of IRIEI and EURII. These stages are a Free Trade Area, a Customs Union, a Common Market, an Economic Union, and Total Economic Integration, and they are described in Box 1.¹³

13 For a survey of various other indicators and indices of institutional integration and their applications to various geographic areas, see De Lombaerde *et al.* (2008).

Box I

FIVE STAGES OF REGIONAL INSTITUTIONAL INTEGRATION: THE BALASSA FRAMEWORK

Bela Balassa is often cited for his work on the relationship between purchasing power parity and cross-country productivity differences, also known as the "Balassa-Samuelson effect". Yet, when working at the World Bank he also made important contributions in the sphere of regional integration. In a seminal article of (1961) he identified five stages of regional institutional integration (RII), as follows:

- Stage 1. Free Trade Area (FTA) An area where tariffs and quotas are abolished for imports from area members, but which retains national tariffs and quotas against third countries. Examples are ASEAN and NAFTA;
- Stage 2. Customs Union (CU) A FTA setting up common tariffs and quotas (if any) for trade with non-members. An example is the European Economic Community since 1968;
- Stage 3. Common Market (CM) A CU abolishing non-tariff barriers to trade i.e., promoting the integration of product and service markets as well as restrictions on factor movement (i.e., promoting the integration of capital and labour markets). Examples are the Andean Community and the European Community since 1993, i.e. following the establishment of the European Internal Market. It is noteworthy that the CM was already identified as an objective under the 1957 Treaty of Rome (so-called "four freedoms");
- Stage 4. Economic Union (EUN) A CM with a significant degree of coordination of national economic policies and/or harmonisation of relevant domestic laws. An example is the European Union nowadays; and



Stage 5. Total Economic Integration (TEI) – A EUN with all relevant economic policies conducted at the supranational level. To this end, both supranational authorities and supranational laws need to be in place. There are no concrete examples of TEI, though the euro area (comprising, from 2015 onwards, 19 out of the 28 EU member states) has a number of relevant features, including, for instance, a single monetary, trade and competition policy, as well as supranational authorities (European Central Bank (ECB), European Court of Justice (ECJ)) and legislation.

3.3 AT THE ROOTS OF THE EURII INDEX: THE FIRST-GENERATION INDEX OF REGIONAL INSTITUTIONAL ECONOMIC INTEGRATION (IRIEI)

In the first-generation IRIEI by Dorrucci *et al.* (2002, 2004) and Mongelli *et al.* (2007), the overall degree of institutional integration achieved within the European Union at a given point in time was quantified by assigning "scores" to each relevant integration event (e.g. the entering into force of a Treaty or directive, the start of a new institution, an important ECJ ruling, etc.). This kind approach, based on a monthly database starting with the entering into force of the Treaty of Rome in January 1958, is the same as the one now implemented for the EURII index.

In the IRIEI index, the sum of all scores indicated the overall level of integration recorded, for each of the five Balassa stages, from 1958 onwards. Scores were assigned *in parallel* along four main headings, each one ranging between 0 and up to a maximum of 25: Free Trade Area/Customs Union (jointly considered); Common Market; Economic Union; and Total Economic Integration.

Concerning "what is measured", in line with the general definitions provided in Section 3.1, the index measured both the depth of integration – or **vertical integration** – and its geographic scope, or **horizontal integration**. In each regional arrangement, a group of partner countries sets the upper limit to vertical integration at a given point in time. Within the EU, these countries were the six founding members (Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, Luxembourg and the Netherlands, or EU6) from the 1950s onwards. All of them joined the euro area in 1999 (see Chart 2). Given this upper limit, it was then possible to reconstruct the path followed by each individual member of the EU/ euro area over time (horizontal integration). Dorrucci *et al.* (2002 and 2003) illustrated the outcome of this exercise for each of the EU15 Member States, i.e. the countries which participated in the enlargements of the EU prior to those in 2004 and thereafter.

Turning to the process of calibration of the scores to be assigned to each integration event, the first step consisted in properly assigning them to the right "stage" (e.g. to the free trade area, common market or total economic integration). This made it possible to create a structure for the index.

The second step involved the weighting, with a top-down approach (i.e. ensuring that the index can range from 0 to 100) of each relevant joint policy decision. To the extent possible, the authors assigned scores on the basis of the year and month when such a decision started being actually *implemented*. Projects which were never implemented – e.g., the Werner Plan – are not taken into account.

Finally, the third step consisted of summing up the scores achieved in each moment in time. We used monthly data. As mentioned, the index could range between 0 (no economic integration at all) and 100 (representing full economic integration as understood when the Rome Treaty was





3 FOUNDATIONS OF THE EURII INDEX

approved). In the European case until the early 1990s, the final objective of economic integration had been identified already in the 1957 Treaty of Rome as the common market (subsequently called "internal market"). In parallel, however, two other Balassa "stages" of integration were also pursued, which needed to be captured in the index: (i) harmonisation of national economic policies (for example, the Common Agricultural Policy); and (ii) co-existence of the intergovernmental method – for example, through the Council – with supranational authorities (for example, the European Court of Justice, the European Parliament) and laws.

The resulting measure of the first-generation IRIEI index was used either by itself or to conduct econometric analysis: for example, to gauge the interaction between Regional Institutional Integration (RII) and the actual degree of economic and financial integration that has been achieved by two or more countries belonging to the same arrangement.¹⁴ This complementary perspective – which is not pursued in this paper – resembles and further extends what Balassa referred to as the "*state of affairs*" of regional integration¹⁵. In this setting, Dorrucci *et al.* (2002, 2004) found a two-way interaction between institutional and economic integration.

In the introduction we explained that the preparation for the euro and then the launch of the euro implied a moment of *discontinuity* in the EURII process: the final objective of the RII process has fundamentally changed in the EU, thus calling for a recalibration of the index. Thus, simply updating the first-generation index up to 2014 was not an option. Instead we had to fully rethink and recalibrate it by adding several new components.

¹⁴ Such Regional Economic Integration (REI) can be captured by a number of economic, monetary and financial indicators at a given point in time: e.g. business cycle synchronisation, dispersion in real GDP per capita and price levels, trade integration, labour mobility, correlation of inflation and interest rates, financial market integration, etc. A high degree of REI implies, not surprisingly, the fulfilment of the basic Optimum Currency Area (OCA) criteria.

¹⁵ Regarding economic integration as a state of affairs, Balassa defined it as "the absence of various forms of discrimination between national economics" (Balassa 1961). Our definition is broader in nature, since we look at the actual data for economic and financial integration, i.e. "regional economic integration" (REI). We prefer this broader definition because the absence of economic discriminations within a region is a necessary, but not sufficient, condition to attain economic integration. Regarding the absence of discriminations, we consider it as a component of regional institutional integration (RII).

4 METHODOLOGY TO CONSTRUCT THE EURII INDEX

There are elements of continuity and discontinuity between the first original index of regional institutional integration recalled in the previous section, and the enhanced new second-generation EURII index proposed here. To start with, what is measured, and how it is measured, remain unchanged, i.e. the general criteria for the measurement are the same.

4.1 EURII CAPTURES INSTITUTIONAL REFORMS

A fundamental change resulting from the crisis has been a *crisis management and crisis resolution framework*. The economic adjustment programmes for Greece, Ireland, Portugal, Spain and Cyprus were supported financially by the European Financial Stability Facility (EFSF) and later also by the permanent European Stability Mechanism (ESM). The EU's new crisis framework drew on the crisis management framework of the IMF. *The funding of the ESM* comes from paid-in capital plus joint and mutual pledged guarantees in proportion to the share of ECB capital.

Such risk-sharing in turn requires a strengthening of the governance framework to counter the moral hazard inherent in such an insurance scheme. This is what we have witnessed since 2010. The governance of the euro area has been strengthened. There is a new governance to restore fiscal sustainability and prevent or correct macroeconomic imbalances. The Stability and Growth Pact has been tightened up by the so-called "six-pack" of economic governance measures, including the Macroeconomic Imbalance Procedure (MIP). They in turn have been complemented by the "two-pack".

Something new emerged at the June 2012 summit of euro area leaders: glimpses of a **shared European vision for a coherent and viable architecture of EMU**. The Presidents of the European Council (Herman Van Rompuy), the European Commission (José Manuel Barroso), the Eurogroup (then Jean-Claude Juncker) and the ECB (Mario Draghi) drew up thereafter what is known as the "Four Presidents' Report". The report puts forward a proposal for a new architecture of Europe's Economic and Monetary Union in the shape of four unions over the next decade:

- 1. a **"banking union"** comprising an integrated financial framework, including three main arms: the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM), a common deposit insurance scheme and a shared resolution framework;
- 2. a "fiscal union" comprising an integrated budgetary framework that will go beyond the fiscal compact;
- 3. an "economic union" comprising an integrated economic policy framework; and
- 4. a **"political union**" enhancing the democratic legitimacy and accountability of all decisionmaking bodies within the EU.

These "four unions" are envisaged to mesh and engage with each other. Like cogwheels in a clockwork in which the turning of one wheel sets the others in motion. Conversely, when the momentum of one decreases the others follow suit (Mersch (2014)). The banking union, the fiscal union, the economic union, and the political union can transmit and reinforce the dynamics of European integration, boosting the overall resilience of EMU to endogenous and exogenous shocks.

4.2 LOOKING AT THE NOT-TOO-DISTANT FUTURE...

For the purposes of our EURII index, this means that we have recalibrated it so as to capture the aforementioned discontinuity in the final goal:

- Concerning the Common Market Era and until 1993, the main goal of European integration
 was to set up a fully-fledged integrated market to secure the benefits from trade in goods and
 services and free movements of people and capital. This block now receives a score of 50 in our
 index. As we will see, this process was quite advanced already in the early 1990s;
- Concerning the Union Era, as of the start of Stage 2 in 1994, however, the new goal of the process of European integration is identified *ex ante* by the contents of the Four Presidents' Report of December 2012 (Van Rompuy *et al.* 2012).

4.3 ...A NEW GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK IS EMERGING.

The new governance, crisis management and financial backstops can support a viable euro area. Further progress towards the four unions should instead make them more resilient and stable over the next decades. The Four Presidents' Report, while not having the standing of a Treaty, is one of the most advanced efforts by policy-makers thus far to identify and implement the institutional steps towards a viable EMU, or in other words a leap towards a "genuine EMU". As a result, from 1994 onwards the maximum score that our RII index can achieve is doubled from 50 to 100. This implies that the institutional integration gap to be filled out under the "Union Era" has widened, quite significantly, in comparison with the concluding years of the Common Market Era (as we shall see below). Therefore, it was decided to double the scale of the index in 1994.

4.4 THE STRUCTURE OF THE EURII INDEX

The EU index of regional institutional integration (EURII) follows a balanced quantitative structure between the "Common Market Era" and the new "Union Era", as displayed in Table 1 below. The maximum score for EURII is 100, which is split equally between the two eras. Each era is in turn partitioned in various stages that are illustrated below and covered in detail in the next two sections of the paper as well as the appendix. Every distinct stage and step of the integration falls under one of the categories and contribute to the full score.

Table The main building blocks of the EURII index										
		"Comm	ion Marke	et Era" (1957-1993	5)	"Union Era" (1994-Today)				
Components	Free Trade Area	Custom Union	Intern. Market	Coordination of Monetary & Exchange Rate Policies	Institutions	Monetary Union		Fiscal Union	Market	Democratic Legitimacy & Accountability
Maximum Score Aggregate Maximum Score	12	2.5	20	.50	12.5	12	10	10	12 50	6
Total	100									

4 METHODOLOGY TO CONSTRUCT THE EURII INDEX



4.5 REASONS TO PREFER THIS METHODOLOGICAL APPROACH TO ALTERNATIVE APPROACHES

Being an institutional index, methodologies such as the Principal Components Analysis (PCA) cannot be implemented as our weights cannot be determined statistically. The same applies to other possible approaches, such as factor analysis and Unobserved Component Models (UCM). These methodologies might certainly be more objective than the *a priori* weighting which we adopt for our institutional index EURII. However, as OECD (2005) argues, "*no matter which method is used, weights are essentially value judgements. While some analysts might choose weights based only on statistical methods, others might reward (punish) the components that are deemed more (less) influential depending on expert opinion to better reflect the policy priorities or theoretical factors"* (p. 21).

It could be further objected that the majority of institutional indices (e.g. Human Development Index, IMF Financial Index) use an "equal weighting" policy. This means that every dimension or component of such indices, or even all the individual variables which make up such indices, are assigned equal weighting. There are cases in which it is important that the dimensions of a certain "object of research" are chosen in such a way that they are all equally important. Yet, this is not necessarily the case in point here. Assigning equal weighting to different events in the process of institutional integration would often just give the impression of a lack of understanding of their relative importance.

When constructing the EURII index, efforts were taken to account for the relative merits of both the equal weighting and the judgemental approach. As a result, it made sense that the main building blocks of our index – the Common Market Era and the Union Era – be given equal weights. After careful reflection, this seems indeed to be the least arbitrary solution. In the same vein, equal weight has also been given to some components of these two building blocks. But not to all of them: it would indeed not be meaningful, for instance, to give the same weight to the European Monetary System and to Economic and Monetary Union. Nor would it be reasonable to assign the same weight to each of the institutional steps and decisions entailed in the index. Yet, the construction of the index, and the underlying list of events, is fully transparent and available upon request, thus enabling further research to experiment with different weightings.

It is particularly important to stress that the dimension "Democratic Legitimacy and Accountability" (DLA) in our index is the least developed of all sub-components of the index for a precise reason, namely our purpose to keep track of the *actual* steps in the process of institutional integration. As such, the index is not the proper tool to reflect the extensive debate about legitimacy and the democratic deficit in the EU (see e.g. Siedentop (2000) and Scharpf (2011)). Instead, EURII is intended to capture those steps that have been already taken, plus those which are envisaged in the Four Presidents' Report and are specifically relevant to the steps taken under the other pillars. Since such steps are still defined in a rather limited way, this part of the index is identified as DLA rather than "political union".

Indeed, as several streams of academic discourse (e.g. European integration studies, "traditional" political philosophy and political science, fiscal federalism etc.) as well as historical precedents show, a true political union in Europe may still take very different shapes along different time horizons in Europe:

• First, state-building can take a variety of forms that, as some have argued, comes about through historical "accident" rather than precise intention;



- Second, advanced forms of political integration would not necessarily imply "full centralisation" of institutions and policies. In the EU, a basic principle enshrined also in the Treaty is indeed that of subsidiarity. At the same time, subsidiarity does not necessarily mean just greater decentralisation. It rather means allocation to the appropriate level of governance of the powers and tools required to conduct the policies assigned to that level. And in line with this, another basic principle in the EU is that accountability exists at the level at which such policy is conducted; and
- Third, "differentiated integration" seems to continue to characterise the European process (see, for example, Leuffen, Rittberger and Schimmelfennig (2012)). Yet even if a very advanced form of political union were to materialise in a core group of countries, a significant degree of decentralisation could still characterise the related institutional set-up.¹⁶

To sum up, the EURII index has both a backward-looking component and a forward-looking component which takes the not implemented parts of the Four Presidents' report as an anchor.Its most complex component pertains to the dimension of the political union. Since the latter is not being pursued per se, but DLA has to be commensurate with the other three unions as currently envisaged, the total maximum score (6) assigned to it is, very low.

16 According to Padoa-Schioppa (1995), for instance, federalism would supplement the horizontal division of government functions legislative, executive, judicial - with a vertical division, whereby government powers have to be distributed at various levels (ranging from the village to the regional arrangement to the whole world) based on the principle of subsidiarity. This is defined as the rule that the functions of higher levels of government should be as limited as possible and be secondary to those at lower levels. At the same time, the euro area crisis has clearly shown that a number of crucial powers need to be shifted to the supranational level, while at the same time filling the democracy gap.

4 METHODOLOGY TO CONSTRUCT THE EURII INDEX



(RE-)MEASURING THE COMMON MARKET ERA 5

This section explains in a step-by-step way the construction of the Common Market Era component of EURII.

5.1 FREE TRADE AREA (FTA) AND CUSTOMS UNION (CU)

Changes over time of tariffs and quotas on trade within the area (FTA) and vis-à-vis third countries (CU) are used to measure the progress made in the establishment of the FTA/CU by the six founding Member States (MS) of what is now called the EU (EU6). This process evolved from January 1958 until July 1968, when it was completed for the EU6, thereby setting the "upper bound" for the subsequent integration of the 22 other EU Member States in the subsequent decades. Compared with the other components of the index, this one has the advantage of being the most easily measurable and unbiased, as shown in Table 2.

Using these indicators, a fully-fledged CU (i.e., incorporating a FTA) obtains a score of 12.5. As shown in the Table 2, the final step toward a FTA/CU obtains a much higher weight than each intermediate step, marking the completion of the FTA/CU. The same "non-linear" approach applies to the other dimensions of the EURII index described hereafter.

5.2 INDICATORS USED FOR THE INTERNAL MARKET (IM)

a) Completion of the free movement of goods through the progressive abolition of non-tariff barriers – The creation of a CU did not automatically imply the full integration of product markets among the participating countries. A further step was needed, namely the abolition of all residual barriers with

		Scores	Max scor possible unde the 4PI
1) Free	Frade Area (FTA) and Customs Union (CU)	12.50	12.5
a) FTA:		7.50	7.5
1	Intra-EU6 quotas cut by 20%	0.50	
2	Intra-EU6 quotas cut by 20%	0.50	
3	Intra-EU6 tariffs are reduced by 20% (10% January '59, 10% July '60)	0.50	
4	Intra-EU6 quotas cut by 20%	0.50	
5	Intra-EU6 quota restrictions lifted (with a few exceptions)	1.00	
6	Intra-EU6 tariffs reduced by 30% (10% January '61, 10% January '62, 10% July '62)	0.50	
7	Intra-EU6 tariffs reduced by 20% (10% June '63, 10% January '65)	0.50	
8	Intra-EU6 tariffs reduced by 20% (10% in January '66, 10% in July '67)	0.50	
9	FTA completed: all remaining internal tariffs abolished	3.00	
b) CU:		5.00	5.0
1	The difference between average external tariffs in individual countries and the	0.50	
	Common External Tariffs (CETs) is reduced by 30% (both agriculture and industrial products; for the latter, reduction had taken place already in 1961)		
2	The difference between average external tariffs in individual countries and the	1.00	
	Common External Tariffs (CETs) is further reduced by 30% (both agriculture		
	and industrial products; for the latter, reduction had taken place already in 1963)		
3	National customs duties in trade with the rest of the world replaced by the Common	3.50	
	External Tariffs (CETs)		



an effect comparable to that of tariffs and quotas. Two important, preliminary steps in that direction were the attribution of strong powers to the Commission for competition policy (1962, 0.75 additional point) and the harmonisation of VAT on trade of goods (1967, 0.75 additional point).

In 1974, the European Court of Justice defined non-tariff barriers as "*all trading rules enacted* by Member States which are capable of hindering, directly or indirectly, actually or potentially, *intra-Community trade*" ("Dassonville" case 8/74). Since in the years thereafter some progress was made as a result of repeated rulings of the Court of Justice, 0.5 point is assigned for the year 1974. Another 0.5 point was assigned in 1979, when the Court issued a particularly important ruling (Cassis de Dijon).

However, there is no doubt that in Europe the key step towards the abolition of non-tariff barriers was the 1985 White Paper – a programme abolishing non-tariff barriers which, by the end of 1992, was estimated to have been 95% completed. The White Paper was put into effect with the European Single Act of 1986, which entered in force in 1987 (2.5 additional points). As it would be extremely difficult (and possibly arbitrary) to quantify the intermediate steps between 1987 and the official launch of the European Single Market on 1 January 1993, the methodology assigns 2.5 points just on the occasion of the latter event. In our EURII index, we consider the free movement of goods to have been accomplished on that date (see Table 3).

b) Measures taken in order to liberalise capital movement¹⁷ – The role of capital movement in the European process of regional integration has changed over time. On the one hand, in most EU countries until the mid-1980s restrictions on capital movements were tolerated and in fact helped to preserve some degree of intra-regional exchange rate stability coupled with some degree of monetary policy autonomy. On the other hand, the *liberalisation* of capital movements became one of the key drivers of monetary union for those EU member countries that wanted to preserve intra-regional exchange rate stability.

The ultimate condition for securing intra-regional exchange rate stability in a sustainable way is *intra-regional economic convergence*. While capital flow restrictions can well play a role in preserving intra-area exchange rate stability in the early stages of integration, in the longer run they jeopardise this objective since they allow policy-makers to postpone those policy measures that eventually create the preconditions for both economic convergence and greater exchange rate stability. As the European experience since the early 1990s clearly illustrates, free capital movement was a key disciplining factor that "forced" policy-makers to pursue economic convergence as one of the key objectives of economic policy in Europe.

Consequently, in our EURII index all steps towards the liberalisation of capital movements obtain a positive score, whereas all restrictive measures receive a negative one. Emphasis is given to those measures which were taken at the *regional* level, since liberalisation in one individual country does not *per se* imply increased integration. In the EURII index, the free movement of capital is considered to have been virtually accomplished with the launch of the common

5 (RE-)MEASURING THE COMMON MARKET ERA

¹⁷ In the EURII index, technology is not treated as a separate production factor. This choice is based on the assumption that foreign direct investment (FDI), which is an important component of capital movements, is a major instrument of technology transfer. Opening a branch, setting up joint ventures and acquiring foreign companies in order to horizontally or vertically extend the production structure are indeed significant components of capital movement. However, some recent studies suggest that FDI fails to transfer technology and that improvements often remain confined to the headquarters. This would imply that technology should be measured as a separate factor. Hence, although this is not the case for the time being, more advanced versions of this paper may include technology as a separate item, using additional indicators such as the EU patents policy.

market for capital in 1993, although we take also account of the impact of the Payment Services Directive of 2007 (see Table 3).

c) Measures taken to liberalise the movement of services – The establishment of a truly functioning internal market for services is vital, as today services account on average for about 70% of EU GDP. They are the most important source of foreign direct investment (FDI), and they are the only source of net job creation in the EU. We can track the progress made in this field in six key steps:

- 1. Attribution of strong powers to the European Commission in the area of competition policy (1962);
- 2. Harmonisation of VAT on services trade (1967);
- 3. Council Directive on the abolition of restrictions on the freedom of establishment and freedom to provide services in respect of self-employed activities of banks and other institutions (1973);
- 4. Official launch of a single market for services in 1993, as part of the European Single Market; and
- 5. Payment Services Directive (2007); and
- 6. The Directive on services in the internal market, which is commonly referred to as the Bolkestein Directive (2009).¹⁸

However, as the Monti Report of May 2010 – "A New Strategy for the Single Market" – has clearly pointed out, "*in the case of services, Europe is still in a phase of "market construction" that requires breaking down barriers to cross-border activity, cutting the dead wood of national administrative and technical barriers and overcoming corporatist resistances*" (Monti (2010), p. 37).¹⁹ For this reason, out of a possible maximum score of 5, we cumulatively give 3.6 points to the services dimension of European integration, indicating that more needs to be done in the coming years. The blueprint for such additional action is provided by the Monti report itself (see in particular Monti (2010), Section 2.6).

d) Measures taken to liberalise the movement of people and workers – This is another key indicator, in line with Mundell's seminal paper on optimum currency areas (OCA, Mundell (1961)). However, achieving a truly single labour market is far more complex and elusive than integrating product, capital and services markets.

In the Treaty of Rome, this objective was initially envisaged by entitling workers to accept job offers within the internal market, and by removing any discrimination based on nationality between workers (Art. 48). By 1968 this rule was, at least in principle, already enforced (one point). However, this *de jure* approach to labour mobility was clearly insufficient. It left disincentives to move across EU borders in place. Such obstacles would involve that a number of supplementary measures be taken at the regional level, such as: (i) promoting the mobility of pension rights;

¹⁹ For example, "telecommunications services and infrastructures in the EU are currently still highly fragmented along national borders" (p. 44); further regulatory action is required "to ensure the quick uptake of new technologies and greater efficiency through competition in energy services" (p. 47); "the market for rail freight services is still not yet functioning due to incorrect or incomplete transposition of Community law by Member States (p. 51); and, more generally speaking, "services markets remain strongly fragmented with only 20% of the services provided in the EU having a cross-border dimension" (p. 53).



¹⁸ The Bolkestein Directive – named after the former European Commissioner for the Internal Market – aims to establish a single market for services within the European Union (EU). It was seen as an important kick-start to the Lisbon Agenda of 2000.

Table 3 Construction of the EURII: Internal Market component		
	Scores	Max score possible under the 4PR
2) Internal market (IM)	16.85	20
 a) Free movement of goods (abolition of non-tariff barriers) b) Free movement of capital c) Free movement of services d) Free movement of people 	5.00 5.00 3.60 3.25	5 5 5

(ii) making information on cross-border job opportunities transparent; (iii) recognising professional qualifications across different countries; and (iv) harmonising national labour market regulations.

Although since 1993 the EU is supposed to have had an internal market for labour, these measures are far from being fully implemented. Also for that reason²⁰, less than 3% of the working age population of the EU consists of people from one Member State working in another. This explains why the maximum score possible for this indicator cannot be given to EU countries in this field (a score of 3.25 is reached), despite the fact that, following the Amsterdam meeting of the European Council in 1997 and the Action Plan elaborated by the Commission in the same year, policies in the area of labour mobility have been gaining momentum. Four additional steps have, however, been selected for our index: (i) the Reyners ruling of June 1974 (half a point); (ii) a directive of 1989 on mutual recognition of higher education diplomas; (iii) the full implementation in an increasing number of Member States, since 1998, of the Schengen convention of 1990 – which does not apply to all EU Member States – on the free circulation of people; and (iv) the introduction, in 2004, of the right of permanent residence, coupled with a reduction in the administrative formalities.

On the whole, the Internal Market as such (i.e. without considering the other stages of regional integration) could obtain a maximum score of 20 points. There remains a gap: the score we assign is 16.85, in order to signal that more remains to be done in the areas of free movement of services and labour mobility (see Table 3).

5.3 INDICATORS USED FOR THE COORDINATION OF MONETARY AND EXCHANGE POLICIES (CME)

We now turn to the **degree of coordination of national exchange rate and monetary policies prior to the launch of the euro: i.e., until end-1998.** There are various ways to incorporate this dimension of regional integration in our EURII index. The avenue taken in this paper is that such policies should become an *integral part* of the index, despite the fact that the European Monetary System (EMS) has not been in place since the irrevocable fixing of exchange rates on 1 January 1999. The rationale for this choice is that EMU would probably have been impossible without the previous experience of exchange rate and monetary policy coordination. This building block, moreover, constituted a fundamental bridge between the collapse of the Bretton Woods System – which, until 1971/73, had provided a monetary anchor for the European process of regional integration – and the launch of the euro in 1999. Finally, membership without significant tensions in the Exchange Rate Mechanism II (ERM II) for two years at least remains a key convergence criterion to be fulfilled by EU members without derogation before they can adopt the euro (Art. 140 TFEU).

20 There are of course additional factors explaining scarce labour mobility which are very difficult, if not impossible, for policy-makers to deal with, such as: differences in language and culture, life style and preferences, and different housing markets.

5 (RE-)MEASURING THE COMMON MARKET ERA

Table 4 Construction of the EURII: Coordination of monetary and exchange rate policies component

	Scores	Max score possible under the 4PR
3) Co-ordination of monetary and exchange rate policies (CME)		5
a) Monetary and exchange rate policy:	5.00	5
1 Establishment of the Monetary Committee	0.30	
2 Council Decision on cooperation between the central banks of the Member States		
of theEuropean Economic Community (64/300/EEC)	0.10	
3 Establishment of the Committee of Governors	0.50	
4 Council Decision on the strengthening of cooperation between the central banks		
of the Member States of the European Economic Community (71/142/EEC)	0.10	
5 Launch of the "snake"	1.00	
6 Crisis of the "snake"	-1.00	
7 Launch of the EMS – the ECU is first defined	3.00	
8 Strengthening of the EMS, with the Basel-Nyborg agreements	1.00	

The first key events we identify start back in 1958, when the Monetary Committee was set up, thus providing a forum for discussing monetary and exchange rate issues. The Committee of Governors was established in 1964 with more formalised cooperation among the relevant national central banks. Following the collapse of the Bretton Woods regime, the short-lived experience with the "Snake" in the 1970s is also captured, initially with a positive sign and then with a negative sign when that experience ended. The EMS was launched in March 1979 and strengthened in 1987 with the Basel-Nyborg agreement. The ERM I crisis of September 1992 is not marked with a negative score because, with the benefit of hindsight, that crisis played a crucial, positive role in pressuring Member States towards greater convergence ahead of euro adoption.

On the whole, the coordination of monetary and exchange rate policies obtains a maximum, as well as an actual, score of 5 points (see Table 4).

5.4 INDICATORS USED FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF SUPRANATIONAL INSTITUTIONS AND DECISION-MAKING BODIES (SID)

We conclude the first part of the EURII index with the crucial component of the setting-up of supranational institutions and decision-making processes, as well as the structuring of the process of regional integration through laws issued and enforced at the supranational level.

In the EU experience, supranational institutions and laws were set up at the very outset of the process. Although they have been strengthened over time, there is little doubt that the basic supranational framework was already available with the Treaty of Rome (1957). This implies the assignment of 7 points back in 1958, when the Treaty of Rome came into force. Out of several subsequent developments, five have been selected: (*i*) the establishment in 1974 of the European Council as a permanent forum providing political impulses; (*ii*) the introduction of Qualified Majority Voting (QMV) on Single Market issues with the Single European Act (1987); (*iii*) the extension of QMV with the Maastricht Treaty (1993); (*iv*)-(*v*) the subsequent Treaties of Nice (2003) and Lisbon (2009), with further extension of QMV.

As a residual item, we included in this component of the index also the start of **structural policies** in the Common Market Era. Here we identify the launch of the Common Agricultural Policy (1962)



and its strengthening in 1966, as well as the establishment of the European Regional Development Fund, which in 1975 started the provision of structural and cohesion funds.

To sum things up, on the whole, this component of the index obtains a maximum, as well as an actual, score of 12.5 points (see appendix). The reason for this is that we *separate* this component of the index, which focuses on the years preceding the euro area crisis, from the subsequent parts of the index.

5 (RE-)MEASURING THE COMMON MARKET ERA





6 MEASURING THE UNION ERA

In line with the Four Presidents' report, we think of EMU throughout the process of European integration as any agreement or governance framework at supranational level that promotes growth and employment, in line with the EU objective of generating "sustainable development [...] based on balanced economic growth and price stability, a highly competitive social market economy, aiming at full employment and social progress" (Art. 3, (3)).

All indicators discussed in the next subsections and the related scoring are summarised in the appendix at the end of the paper.

6.1 INDICATORS USED FOR THE ECONOMIC UNION (EUN)

A multitude of steps could be identified under this heading. However, in line with the rationale behind the RII, which continues to apply to the EURII, we only assign scores to nine developments that we believe mark significant advances in European integration.

In chronological order, the first significant step was the decisions taken in 1988 to recalibrate and increase the firepower of the EU's Structural Funds, modulating them towards a more effective enhancement of a convergence in productivity levels across the Union. This was followed, in 1997, by the Luxembourg Process, reinforced by the Amsterdam Treaty, which established a European Employment Strategy. The year after, in 1998, at a European Council meeting in Cardiff, the "Cardiff process" for product market reform was introduced as a way to improve peer review of economic reforms. One year later, when the European Council met in Cologne, these processes were complemented by a Macroeconomic Dialogue of social partners at European level. The aim was to improve cooperation on wage formation among all stakeholders.

All these processes were based largely on existing Treaty provisions – essentially the socalled Broad Economic Policy Guidelines and the Employment Guidelines of today's TFEU Articles 121 and 148) which later converged into the so-called Integrated Guidelines – and in essence relied on an open method of policy coordination. They had limited effectiveness and we assign very small scores of 0.10 to each of them.

The Lisbon Strategy of 2000 (and its revamped version in 2005) also enters our index as a form of strategic and comprehensive approach to policy coordination. The aim was to provide a top-down framework to stimulate competitiveness from the centre. However, it too relied on the open method of coordination and the above-mentioned economic and employment guidelines of the Treaty. It did not result in an adequate form of economic coordination especially from a euro area perspective, and enters the index with a small score. Another pact which had the potential to prove significant, but with practically no elements of additional shared sovereignty and enforcement methods, was the Euro Plus Pact adopted in the early stages of the crisis. As a consequence, it had limited results and also takes a very small score in the index.

The latest, and most substantial, attempt at putting in place a shared mechanism that would monitor and foster policies aimed at boosting macroeconomic stability and competitiveness is the Macroeconomic Imbalances Procedure (MIP) embedded in the European Semester established by the so-called "six-pack" in 2011. Although with definite shortcomings, the MIP, with its macroeconomic scoreboard and objective thresholds, allows for much less discretion than, say,

6 MEASURING THE UNION ERA

the country-specific recommendations of Article 121 TFEU when assessing a country's macroeconomic performance, and it includes the possibility for preventive and corrective measures to be taken with respect to countries found on imbalanced or unsustainable paths. Since the MIP also includes an Excessive Imbalances Procedure (EIP) that can ultimately also lead to pecuniary fines similar to those of the SGP, it marks a notable departure in the economic sphere from the peer support, pressure and OMC-type of surveillance and thus deserves a higher score than its predecessors.

All in all, throughout the history of European integration several steps have been taken to strengthen economic coordination: their impact was modest. Perhaps, due to the sensitivity of this dimension, which goes to the very heart of national sovereignty, these steps were, until recently, solely grounded in very loose coordination and mutual discussion. As such, we currently judge the overall level of Economic Union as being far from that required for a genuine EMU of the sort discussed today. It is assigned an overall score of 2.2 out of a maximum of 10.

As discussed in section 3 above, for this latter part of the EURII, the Four Presidents' Report sets an ambitious benchmark. This implies that, in order to reach the maximum score, integration would have to be pursued along the lines of creating a stronger system that incentivises structural reforms in low-productivity countries, thereby improving the overall stability of EMU to macroeconomic shocks. One possible form for this, as detailed in the report, would be a system of national reform contracts, to be signed with EU institutions, in exchange for financial support.

The other crucial milestone that would be needed, according to the Four Presidents' Report, in order to complete the Economic Union pillar, would be the establishment of some sort of pre-condition to pass strong economic reforms promoting competitiveness and economic convergence in order to be part of a European macroeconomic stabilisation mechanism (which is discussed further in the fiscal section, below). In the words of the Report itself, "[...] *setting up risk-sharing tools, such as a common but limited shock absorption function, can contribute to cushioning the impact of country-specific shocks and help prevent contagion across the euro area and beyond. However, this needs to be complemented with a mechanism to induce stronger economic convergence, based on structural policies aiming at improving the adjustment capacity of national economies and avoiding the risk of moral hazard inherent to any insurance system".*

6.2 INDICATORS USED FOR THE MONETARY UNION (MU)

"The ECB shall have the exclusive right to authorize the issue of bank notes within the Community. [...] The bank notes issued by the ECB and the national central banks shall be the only such notes to have the status of legal tender within the Community." With this wording, Article 105a (1) of the Maastricht Treaty was effectively establishing a full monetary union (MU). However, the steps that eventually led to a full MU were manifold and some had even started before the ratification of the Treaty. In January 1990, Stage One of EMU was launched. This involved the implementation of decisions on multilateral surveillance (objective of economic convergence) and on strengthening the task and role of the Committee of Central Bank Governors (monetary cooperation). It also called for the complete abolition of barriers to the movement of capital for eight Member States by 1994 (Spain, Greece, Ireland and Portugal received some temporary derogations). In 1994, Stage Two of EMU commenced, involving, among other things, the creation of the European Monetary Institute, the forerunner of the European Central Bank. As discussed above, we consider this as a crucial moment which necessitates a recalibration of the scale of the index, as the Union moved from the "Common Market Era" to the "EMU Era". In June 1998, the ECB and the Eurosystem formally started their operations, managing a single monetary and exchange rate policy for the whole euro area from 1999. The Eurosystem was set up with fully federalized decision-making, and with the Governing Council granted independence in respect of its objective(s) and instruments. This implied a significant step in terms of sovereignty transferred to the euro area level and European integration (see Jung and Mongelli, 2009). The euro was then officially launched in January 1999, when also the TARGET system (later to be replaced by TARGET2) began operating. At the same time, the European Exchange Rate Mechanism (ERM II) replaced its predecessor, as a full part of the overall EMU framework and a requirement for euro accession. Finally, perhaps more symbolically but still importantly, in January 2002, euro notes and coins entered into circulation, very quickly replacing the legal tender in each country.

Today the Monetary Union is highly credible and widely deemed to be one of the most federalized elements of European decision-making. It is also the most integrated headlines under our EURII framework. The Four Presidents' Report does not identify any further steps to be taken under Monetary Union, which seems to fully justify the maximum score of 12 out of 12 which we are assigning to it.

6.3 INDICATORS USED FOR THE FINANCIAL MARKET UNION (FMU)

Financial market integration has been an integral component of European integration since the early days of the Community: initially as part of the freedom of capital objective, later for the establishment of the single currency. As early as 1973, directives were being passed abolishing restrictions (harmonisation) on providing services with respect to self-employed activities of banks and other financial institutions. In an attempt to increase the degree of harmonisation of the market, directives were also passed on banking supervision; own funds, solvency ratios, large exposures, just to mention a few. These were all small steps, which do not enter our index with a score. However, in 2000 the main pieces of legislation on banking were consolidated into a single text – the Single Banking Directive from Basel I^{21} – to which we assign a small positive score.

In the following years several technical fora were established, including the Committee of European Securities Regulators (CESR) in 2001, followed by the Committee of European Banking Supervisors (CEBS) and the Committee of European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Supervisors (CEIOPS) in 2003. These fora represented the predecessors of the three European Supervisory Authorities, the European Banking Authority (EBA), the European Securities Markets Authority (ESMA), and the European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority (EIOPA) at the centre of the European System of Financial Supervisors (ESFS), together with the European Systemic Risk Board (ESRB), which was set up in 2011 to provide analysis, warnings and recommendations on macro-prudential policy, following the aftermath of the 2008 financial crisis. The last step identified as substantive was the entry into force, in July 2013, of the Capital Requirements Directive (CRD) IV and Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR), implementing the Basel III agreement.

However, as described in Section 1, at the origin of the crisis there were also persistent financial imbalances (see Constâncio (2013) intermediated mostly by banks.²² Such large intra-euro area capital flows were not matched by a common supervision and resolution scheme for financial institutions. Then, in June 2012, the European Council agreed to advance with centralised European

²¹ Directive 2000/12/EC.

²² Chen, Milesi-Ferretti and Tressel (2012) argue that sustained cheap financing was provided from banks in core euro area countries – mostly France and Germany – to the largest net debtors (stressed/program countries).

6 MEASURING THE UNION ERA

banking supervision which was confirmed following the presentation of the Interim Four Presidents' Report in October 2012. Since then, substantial progress has been made, with the approval of the Council Regulation on the SSM entering into force on 3 November 2013, and supervisory tasks under Article 127(6) TFEU to the ECB.

The financial markets union has in the meantime become the most advanced of the four unions in terms of integration, with the so-called banking union at its core. The ECB took up fully its supervision of credit institutions under the SSM on 4 November 2014. An EU Regulation, co-decided by the EU Council and European Parliament, has set up a Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM), with a Single Resolution Board (SRB) and a bank-levy funded Single Resolution Fund (SRF). Parts of this SRF are based on an Intergovernmental Agreement because of (politically perceived or legally viewed) national obstacles relating to the possibility of supranational fiscal/financial transfers). The SRM is set to become operational on 1 January 2015, while the SRF will be built up gradually. In the meantime, it will be buttressed by national financial backstop arrangements. Moreover, the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (BRRD), with the senior bail-in provisions entering into force on 1 January 2016, has also been adopted. Moreover, in August 2013, the Commission updated its rules concerning state aid for the assessment of public support of banks. A Deposit Guarantee Schemes Directive (DGSD) has been adopted, ensuring the protection of deposits across Europe up to €100,000.

Finally, Direct Recapitalisation Instrument (DRI) by the ESM, for the direct recapitalisation of banks through European public funds as an *ultima ratio* and in line with the bail-in provisions of the BRRD, SRM and ESM conditions, has also been agreed and is set to enter into force on 1 January 2016 (together with the bail-in of senior creditors).

Various financial market segments going beyond the banking sector should also integrate further. These cover the financing of the European economic through capital markets or more broadly nonbank financing.²³ Ultimately, far-reaching decisions in a number of financial market dimensions also of a structural nature are likely to be warranted to ensure that the financial trilemma is adequately resolved. For example, as a follow up to the so-called "Liikanen proposals", the Commission's (2014) proposed a draft Regulation on bank structural reforms similar as regards issues to the Volcker rule in the USA. This could entail *inter alia* a more integrated solution than the DBR of the ESM, the harmonisation of bankruptcy law, improving the markets for high quality securitisation, harmonising the rules pertaining to market infrastructures and so on.

As such, under our index, the FMU pillar is roughly 30% complete, with a total score of 3.55 out of a maximum of 12.

6.4 INDICATORS USED FOR THE FISCAL UNION (FIU)

The need for stronger of fiscal coordination was already recognised at the time EMU was set up. In the Treaty of Maastricht, the need for Member States to *"avoid excessive government deficits"* was articulated in the text as the Excessive Deficit Procedure (EDP). The EU Commission was to monitor public finance developments and the Council could issue warnings and potentially even impose fines, if deemed necessary. This mechanism was deemed vague and unsatisfactory

²³ At the time of publication, the debate on the stable equilibrium in this policy domain is in some ways advanced as compared to the other unions but nevertheless remains inconclusive and in fact attempts are being made to define what a capital markets union might entail; see for example, N. Veron (2014).

and, as such, in the mid-1990s, it was further articulated in the Stability and Growth Pact.²⁴ We recognise both steps in our index. However, the SGP has been breached on a number of occasions, most notably by France and Germany, which in the ECOFIN Council of November 2003 rejected the Commission's proposal to open the sanctions procedure foreseen under the EDP against them.

The SGP was subsequently revised and weakened in 2005, allowing for more "flexibility", extending the definition of "exceptional and temporary" circumstances that would allow above-threshold deficits and debts without falling under the EDP. This development was, especially in retrospect, one of the most sensitive during the Union Era. Arguably, it also tolerated the type of profligate public finances that contributed to the debt crisis in some euro area countries that erupted in May 2010 following Greece's exclusion from the international capital markets (see Durre, Drudi and Mongelli (2013) and Durre, Maddaloni and Mongelli (2014)). The reform of the SGP in the mid-2000s thus enters our EURII index with a negative sign, illustrating a setback for the integration of fiscal policies.

A large part of the initial crisis response by 2010 focused on the index fiscal side. The considerable advances thereafter are captured also quite visibly by the EURII. In December 2011, the SGP was once again strengthened as part of the so-called "six-pack" legislation containing two Regulations updating the SGP Regulations of 1997 (as amended in 2005), as well as a Directive on national fiscal frameworks (see below for the other three Regulations). Furthermore, with the so-called "fiscal compact", a new Treaty on Stability, Convergence and Governance (TSCG) was ratified, leading most notably to the embedding of a balanced-budget rule of constitutional status at national level. Interestingly, the Treaty was not only signed by euro area members; in fact, 25 of the then 27 EU Member States were signatories (Croatia did not join until 1 July 2013).

Last but not least, the fiscal framework for the euro area has been significantly strengthened through the "two-pack". These two Regulations applying to euro area members only, allow for subjecting, initially by the Commission, the draft budgets of member states to European surveillance in order to comply with the rules of the SGP. This entails enhanced/"semi-automatic" processes that allow for quicker decision making once the Commission has decided to apply the preventive and corrective arms of the SGP to bring down high public deficits/debts. All these steps represent a significant weight in our EURII.

The fiscal response to the crisis was characterised not only by a tightening of the rules and procedures of fiscal surveillance. Significant steps were also taken on the burden-sharing side, as euro area governments pooled resources in an effort to provide assistance to stressed partner countries. The first such step was the creation of the Greek Loan Facility in May 2010. As this structure was effectively channelling bilateral loans to the Greek government, it is not seen as an integration milestone under fiscal union. However, it represented an important actual first step to the fiscal firewalls that were decided simultaneously and later set up and it thus contributes with a small positive score to the EURII.

Indeed, in May 2010, the decision was taken for setting up the EU-wide European Financial Stabilisation Mechanism (EFSM), allowing the Commission to borrow in financial markets up to ϵ 60 billion under the implicit guarantee of the EU budget, in order to provide financial assistance to EU Member States in need. Notwithstanding its relatively limited financial envelope, this is considered to be a significant step in terms of integration, as a decision regarding the activation

24 Council Regulations 1466/97 and 1476/97, Council Resolution 97/C236/01-02.



6 MEASURING THE UNION ERA

of the EFSM facility can be taken by qualified majority in the Council, and it implies a fairly far-reaching form of pooling of fiscal resources. The EFSM mirrors the Medium-Term Financial Assistance facility (MTFA), established in February 2002 to assist non-euro EU countries affected by a balance of payment crisis.

The other major milestone at the time with regard to establishing a solid and permanent fiscal firewall for euro area sovereigns was the European Financial Stability Fund (EFSF). This was a euro area special purpose vehicle that came into operation soon after the inception of the first Greek Economic Adjustment Programme. Notwithstanding its temporary nature, its strict unanimity rules, and the fact that liabilities continued to be allocated to individual countries, the EFSF takes on an important role in the EURII given its strong firepower (which was also increased in July 2011), allowing for an effective containment of the sovereign debt crisis and acting as the precursor to the European Stability Mechanism (ESM). Indeed, through the ESM Treaty, the EFSF was later effectively replaced by the ESM, a permanent international organisation with a significant lending capacity (\notin 700 billion) with 80 billion in paid-in capital and some 620 billion of callable capital. This size is not dissimilar to that of some proposals put forward by commentators of an EMU budget i.e. some 10% of GDP. The ESM has a large toolkit of lending options and market support facilities to assist euro area countries under the stress of financial markets. It was one of the key elements - together with banking union and the strengthening of the fiscal framework - of an effective crisis management toolkit for the euro area. The ESM represents the largest step taken hitherto in terms of pooling of resources under the fiscal union heading.

At the same time, even though the EU Treaty (TFEU) itself was changed in the midst of the crisis to accommodate the creation of the ESM (amendment of Article 136 TFEU), the ESM is nevertheless based on an intergovernmental Treaty which is outside the *acquis communautaire*. Decisions in the ESM are taken with a very high majority threshold (with only partial possibilities for lower thresholds under emergency situations). There are many veto players and potentially lengthy processes in case of difficult decisions e.g. for increasing financial support for economic adjustment programmes). As such, it is assigned a high score that could nevertheless be higher if the ESM were to acquire a more supranational dimension. One step in this direction could come when Treaty change next takes place. This is likely to bring into the Treaty framework not only the ESM (as committed politically after pressures by the EP when the ESM was adopted on an intergovernmental basis) but also the Fiscal Compact, and possibly parts of the rules of the SGP currently contained in Regulations.

In this regard, it is important to note that we do not see initial intergovernmental agreements as steps "back" in the integration process, but rather as smaller steps "forward". During the crisis, this has apart from the ESM also been the case most notably for the SRF, as noted above, and the Fiscal Compact. Thus, such steps enter the index with positive scores, yet smaller than would otherwise be the case.

All in all, these steps bring the overall score of the Fiscal Union heading upon 6.25 out of 10. This is remarkable, given the short time in which most of these steps were agreed and implemented. Along the lines of the Four Presidents' Report, there are however still a number of elements missing in order to reach a genuine EMU. These would include the creation of a euro area fiscal capacity (linked to the discussion on automatic stabilisers presented under the Economic Union chapter), the possibility for some sort of shared issuance of euro area debt, enhanced tax coordination and a fiscal backstop to both the SRM and a Deposit Guarantee Scheme.

6.5 INDICATORS USED FOR DEMOCRATIC LEGITIMACY AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Although sometimes forgotten, a key element that sets the European Economic Community and now the European Union apart from any other form of association of sovereign states or international organisation is the development of democratic legitimacy and accountability procedures and institutions at supranational level. This process started already in the early stages of European integration, when it could still be argued that the legitimisation of the process through national governments and parliaments was sufficient given the initial, relatively limited pooling of sovereignty. At the same time, it should be underlined for the purposes of this paper and the EURII index that we concentrate on accountability and legitimacy steps that relate to EMU and not other EU policy domains, or the EU in general.

Nevertheless, we still take into account the first notable steps that involved the development of key institutions, notably the European Parliament (EP), even if these were not always linked to economic integration alone. The European Parliamentary Assembly held its first meeting as early as 1958. Composed of representatives of national parliaments, this body evolved into the European Parliament (EP) in 1962. Several small but significant steps towards an increasing role for the EP followed, some of which substantially increased our EURII index,

In chronological order, the decision to grant the EP the right to have the final word on non-compulsory expenditure through the First Budgetary Treaty is deemed significant. This 1971 decision was then followed by a Second Budgetary Treaty, which granted the right to the EP to reject the Community's budget. In 1979, the EP was directly elected for the first time, through universal suffrage. EP elections have been held regularly thereafter and have on the whole attracted increasing attention in the public European debate. Most recently, in the run up to the May 2014 EP elections, a public debate was held among the *Spitzenkandidaten* of the EU political groups/parties; at the same time, turnout has been falling from the original very high percentage of 1979.

As regards the role and powers of the EP in the supranational institutional construction of the EU, successive amendments to the Treaties have progressively expanded the use of the so-called "co-decision" legislative procedure (now called "ordinary legislative procedure"), whereby the EP and the Council co-decide on an equal footing on legislation proposed by the Commission. With very few exceptions, this applies to all financial legislation for the Single Market, and to a large degree, economic governance legislation. For example, the "six-pack" and "two-pack" were adopted *de facto* through the co-decision procedure, although some elements would have required the Council to get only the non-binding consent of the EP.

Moreover, accountability requirements vis-à-vis the European Parliament has gradually increased. With the Nice Treaty, the nomination for Commission President had to receive the consent of Parliament, while Parliament could reject the Commission President's proposal for the "College" of Commissioners. Thus, in 2009, the EP effectively "brought down" the Santer Commission, and in 2009 and 2014 rejected some of the Commissioners proposed by the President of the Commission. With the Lisbon Treaty of 2009, the Heads of State have to "take into account" of the result of the European elections when proposing to Parliament in 2014, the EP effectively co-decided with the European Council (the Heads of State or Government) on the nomination of the Commission President by appointing as President of the Commission Jean-Claude Juncker, the candidate of the European political group (in this case the European People's Party,) that had obtained the highest percentage of votes in the elections, with the Heads of State voting

by *qualified majority* to propose the candidate to Parliament (two heads of state or government voted against this nomination).

Moreover, under the Maastricht Treaty, the ECB is accountable to the European Parliament, while the Council Regulation establishing the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM) under Article 127(6) of the Treaty provides for the accountability of the ECB's supervisory tasks towards the European Parliament and the Council via the ECB's Chair of the Supervisory Board. These accountability and reporting provisions are detailed in an Inter-Institutional Agreement between the EP and ECB, and a Memorandum of Understanding between the Council and the ECB. They entail the provision of confidential Records of Proceedings of the ECB's Supervisory Board to the Economic and Monetary Affairs Committee of the European Parliament. Accountability under the "banking union" has extended also to resolution: as this paper was being finalised, the Single Resolution Mechanism was being established under the auspices of the Commission. It will be accountable to the EP and the Council.

A number of other provisions have over the years gradually strengthened the legitimacy of EU decisions. Perhaps most notably from an economic policy perspective and as became evident during the crisis, the European Council, composed of the Heads of State or Government, turned into a fully-fledged European institution in the last EU Treaty revision in Lisbon. It has a permanent President for two and one half years and also meets in euro area composition as necessary, reflecting the important dimension of Economic and Monetary Union for the highest level of political executive authority in the EU and euro area. In addition, and notably also in the EMU and four unions context, the role of the Eurogroup was formally recognised in a Protocol of the Treaty. The Eurogroup's President is appointed for a fixed term also of two and one half years (thus not following the six-month rotation of the Council Presidency). Finally, in terms of legitimacy, the Lisbon Treaty introduced the possibility for citizens to collect signatures and, having obtained a specific number of signatures, to present a legislative proposal to the Commission, thus giving the right of legislative initiative directly to EU citizens albeit under rather restrictive conditions.

As for other notable developments, the establishment already in 1977 of an independent European Court of Auditors to scrutinise the budget of the Community, is worth highlighting. The ECA is one of the seven EU institutions listed in the relevant Article 13 of the Lisbon Treaty on European Union (TEU) of 2009.

It should be added that the role of National Parliaments has also been somewhat elevated in the Lisbon Treaty as a means of adding to the legitimacy of *European* decision making. Such moves as well as agreements of an intergovernmental nature at European level (enumerated above) indicate that political legitimacy and democratic accountability constraints will need to be further addressed as integration under EMU deepens. Nevertheless, also by way of a methodological note, we see such elements as obtaining positive scores in our index, even if their national dimension, seen from a European, and four unions, perspective, acquire smaller scores than supranational solutions would obtain. As an additional methodological note, it should be mentioned that depending on whether the decisions taken for integrative steps were implemented at the time of finalising this paper, they were included in the EURII accordingly (as "expected" steps). 1 January 2015 is the effective cut-off date. The actual way in which these and other procedures were or will be implemented in practice has been an additional element in determining the score of steps in our index. In order to be as clear and transparent about the steps and scores, the full list of both "expected" and "future" steps under the Four Presidents' Report, as we have accounted for them, is available upon request.

6 MEASURING THE UNION ERA

Despite the progress in raising the democratic legitimacy and accountability of the Union, the Four Presidents' Report recognises calls for still further steps. However, these are identified only in general terms, such as the need for deep, institutionalised cooperation between the EP and national parliaments for law-making and accountability purposes, full SRM (including SRF) accountability, deeper if not full involvement of the EP in the European Semester (and thereby also possible involvement, for example, in the scrutiny of national budgets), still-to-be-determined accountability of the fiscal capacity, just to mention a few. In light of the significant steps still to be taken, our aggregate score for the completion of the Democratic Legitimacy and Accountability pillar comes to 23%.



7 MAIN FINDINGS OF THE EURII INDEX

7 MAIN FINDINGS OF THE EURII INDEX

The main findings of the second-generation EURII index are depicted in Charts 3 and 4 and Table 5. For an overall overview of the structure and composition of the index, see appendix.

The EURII index records each key step of European integration from the 1957 Treaty of Rome onwards. The nature of European integration changed following the Maastricht Treaty that entered into force in November 1993, ushering in a new Union Era initially focused on monetary union, but from the very beginning implying a major "re-scaling" of the process of integration, hence of the index. Indeed, as McNamara (2014) observes, "*No currency union has ever succeeded without being embedded within a broader political union with a robustly centralised fiscal system*". While it is perhaps still unclear what exactly this will imply for the institutions of EMU in the longer run, the EURII index takes stock of the current state of affairs. This is provided by the institutional framework that has been identified in the Four Presidents' Report and (significantly) accomplished thus far, in order to provide the single currency with the necessary degree of "embeddedness" over and above the single market, and ensure economic and financial stability alongside sustainable growth in the years to come.

The introduction of the single currency was, therefore, a key moment of discontinuity in the index, which jumped from 48/100 to 58/100 in 1999-2002 (see Chart 3). Jumps in the index had also occurred previously (e.g. with the completion in 1968 of the free trade and customs union, which led to a rise in the index from 20/100 to 28/100), but they did not lead to fundamental discontinuities in the process of regional institutional integration.

The lack of adequate institutional steps to make up for the introduction of the euro and the (initially just implicit) start of the Union Era was one of the factors leading, after the global crisis triggered by collapse of Lehman Brothers in September 2008, to the start of the euro area crisis in 2010. In response, the reaction of policy-makers and politicians in Europe within a period of five years, from 2010 to 2014, has been significant not only in terms of specific measures taken within the existing national and





European governance, but also in adapting the EU institutional framework itself to cope with the crisis and ensure the longer-term sustainability of the European project. The index thus shows another, even more notable, jump during this more recent period, from 62/100 to 74/100.

At the same time, the EURII index also highlights that the European process of institutional integration process is not yet complete – far from it, some would argue (see Table 5 and Chart 4). The process requires *at least* a number of elements identified in the Four Presidents' Report. With

Table 5 The various steps in the process of European regional institutional integration: A backward- and forward-looking summary

(percentage)				
(percentage)				T ()
	Stage of completion	Expected	Future steps	Total
FTA & CU – Free Trade Area & Custom Union	100	0	0	100
IM – Internal Market	84	0	16	100
CME – Coordin. Monetary & Exch.Rate Policies	100	0	0	100
SID – Supranat. Institut. & Decision-Making	100	0	0	100
EUN – Economic Union	22	0	78	100
FMU – Financial Market Union	55	17	28	100
FIU – Fiscal Union MUN – Monetary Union	63 96	3 4	35 0	100 100
DL&A – Democratic Legitimacy & Accountability	90 44	4 0	56	100
Total	76	3	21	100
Total	70	5	21	
FTA				Stage of completion
CU				100
Free movement of goods				10
Free movement of capital				10
Free movement of services				7
Free movement of people				6
Monetary and exchange rate policy				10
Creation of supranational treaties and institutions				10
Structural policies in the common market era				10
Structural policies				2.
Micro- and macro-prudential policy				5
Fiscal policy coordination				6.
Monetary policy				9
Accountability				2
Legitimacy				6.
				Number of step
				identifie
FTA				
CU				
Free movement of goods				
Free movement of capital				
wwFree movement of services				
Free movement of people				
Monetary and exchange rate policy				
Creation of supranational treaties and institutions				
Structural policies in the common market era				
Structural policies				1
Micro- and macro-prudential policy				1. 1.
Fiscal policy coordination Monetary and exchange rate policy				1.
Accountability				
Legitimacy				
Total				10





7 MAIN FINDINGS OF THE EURII INDEX

the most recent advances in the banking union having added significantly to what is considered a well-integrated financial markets union (see the light blue component "FMU" in Chart 3), the main areas where progress may be expected include the economic and fiscal spheres, as well as the necessary political adjustments to ensure appropriate legitimacy for such integration (see Table 5 and Chart 4 for the stage of completion of each sub-component of the index). Advances can also be expected in other spheres. The Single Market, in particular, has yet to be completed, while the banking union does not imply, in our understanding, the end of the necessary steps in the financial sphere. Moreover, the third pillar of the banking union (i.e., beyond supervision and resolution) is a common deposit insurance system, which still has to be implemented. Finally, capital markets are arguably not integrated enough to provide deep and evenly distributed funding across the European economy as a stable complement, if not an alternative, to bank funding (see e.g. Juncker (2014) and Cœuré (2014)).

It can be expected that the steps identified here may eventually undergo a trial and error process, not always in a consistent and coherent manner. This will possibly require more iteration before reaching a steady – or, better said, *steadier* – institutional state, in line with the neo-functionalist logic of integration (see Niemann and Ioannou 2015). An example of such a development is the financial markets union itself, which began with the setting-up of committees (e.g. CEBS), then of authorities (e.g. ESAs, ESRB) and is now being complemented with centralised European banking supervision. Moreover, elements from the different sub-components may well advance in parallel – for example, advancing in the centralisation of economic and fiscal policies as a precondition to greater fiscal risk-sharing among countries – which is in fact the recommendation of the Four Presidents' Report itself.

This process will likely to go beyond what is explicit in the Four Presidents' Report (i.e., the scope of this paper) and be closer to what might be more implicit therein, until a more complete form of integration is achieved which ensures the sustainability of a combination of efficiency, stability and equity under EMU. At that stage, it is not unlikely that developments may also result in negative

scorings in our index, as happened in the past. While the broad direction, in our view, will continue to be one of additional sharing of sovereignty in the Union Era, adjustments may likely take place also in order to ensure both upwards and downwards subsidiarity.

Like other currency unions, EMU contains elements that are unique to it, resembling the fact that state-building (whether "unitary", "federal" or "confederal" in nature) is the result of historical experience that does not reflect a single, universal form. Nevertheless, the functional logic in terms of economic policy-making requires that at least the basic elements for sustainability need to be present for currency unions to be more or less stable over much longer periods of time than EMU's two-decade history.



8 FINAL REMARKS

8 FINAL REMARKS

We have shown in this paper how the EURII index: (i) synthesises and monitors many diverse institutional innovations; (ii) expands and normalises the previous-generation index; and (iii) offers an indicator for further research and policy analysis. Yet, there are limitations, and several caveats apply. The main one is that the EURII index is anchored by a new governance framework, whose contours are slowly taking shape, albeit at different speeds. It remains a dynamic process at the end of which the EU/euro area will remain different from, for example, the United States or other sovereigns.

Moreover, ratification and transposition into national law does not guarantee immediate application or enactments of the various steps. By the same token, there are differences between *de jure* and *de facto* integration. The national dimensions and scorecards matter as well; they represent the biggest challenges – and our next endeavour. Our measure of legitimacy and accountability is necessarily limited: institutional reforms are only as good as they are effectively explained, understood, embraced and complied with. Such characteristics are not captured by our EURII index. The impact and effectiveness of institutional reforms may have long and varying lags. Therefore, there is a need to cross-check EURII with a variety of indicators of, say, effective financial integration and/or confidence, and a need for econometric analysis with OCA variables.



REFERENCES

Adler, E. and M. Barnett (2006), "A Framework for the Study of Security Communities", in E. Adler and M. Barnett (eds.), *Security Communities*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 29-65.

Baele, L, A. Ferrando, P. Hördahl, E. Krylova and C. Monnet (2004), "Measuring Financial Integration in the Euro Area", *ECB Occasional Paper*, (14).

Balassa, B. (1961), The Theory of Economic Integration, Richard Irwin, Homewood (Ill.).

Bekemans, L., R. Fiorentino and L. Van Langenhove (2000) "Reshaping Integration Studies in Social Sciences: Challenges and Perspectives for Research", *Collegium*, 20: 43-72.

Bolkestein Directive (2009), see Wikipedia on: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Directive_on_services_in_the_internal_market

Chen, Milesi-Ferretti and Tressel (2012) "External Imbalances in the Euro Area", IMF Working Paper WP/12/236.

Cœuré B., (2014), "Ein Binnenmarkt für Kapital", FAZ, 30 June 2014.

Cœuré B., (2014), "Investing in Europe: Towards a New Convergence Process", speech at the panel "The big rethink for a stronger Europe", The Economist Roundtable with the Government of Greece, Athens, 9 July.

Constâncio,V. (2013) "The European Crisis and the role of the financial system", Speech at the Bank of Greece conference on "The crisis in the euro area", Athens, 23 May 2013, http://www.ecb. europa.eu/press/key/date/2013/html/sp130523_1.en.html

Costea, A.-C., P. De Lombaerde, B. Fühne and W. De Vriendt (2006), "Monitoring and (Good) Governance of the Integration Process in the European Union", Working Paper.

De Grauwe, P. (2013): "Design Failures in the Euro Zone: Can They be Fixed?", European Commission, European Economy Economic Papers No. 491 (April)

De Lombaerde, P., E. Dorrucci, G. Genna, and F.P. Mongelli (2008) "Quantitative Monitoring and Comparison of Regional Integration Processes: Steps towards Good Practise", Chapter prepared for ZEI textbook

De Lombaerde, P., A. Estevadeordal and K. Suominen (eds.) (2008), *Governing Regional Integration for Development*, London: Ashgate.

Delors, J. et al. (1989): *Report on Monetary and Economic Union in the European Community*, Committee for the Study of Economic and Monetary Union, 17 April

Dennis, D.J. and A.Z. Yusof (2003), *Developing Indicators of ASEAN Integration – A Preliminary Survey for a Road Map*, AusAID/REPSF Project 02/001, Final Report, (August).

REFERENCES

Deutsch, K.W., S.A. Burrell, R.A. Kann, M. Lee, Jr., M. Lichterman, R.E. Lindgren, F.L. Loewenheim, and R.W. Van Wagenen (1957), *Political Community and the North Atlantic Area: International Organization in the Light of Historical Experience*, Princeton University Press, Princeton.

Dorrucci, E., S. Firpo, M. Fratzscher and F.P. Mongelli (2004), "The Link between Institutional and Economic Integration: Insights for Latin America from the European Experience", *Open Economies Review*, 15:239–260.

Dorrucci, E., Mongelli, F. *et al.* (2005): "*The path of institutional and financial integration*", Journal of Economic Integration, Vol. 20, No. 2 (June).

Dorrucci, E., Firpo, S., Fratzscher, M. and Mongelli, F. (2002), "European Integration: What Lessons for Other Regions? The Case of Latin America", ECB Working Paper No. 185 (October).

Durre, A., A. Maddaloni, and F.P. Mongelli (2014), "Financial fragmentation and ECB monetary policy", *Comparative Economic Studies*, Volume 56 (3), pp. 396-423.

Drudi. F., A. Durre, and F.P. Mongelli (2012) "The Interplay of Economic Reforms and Monetary Policy: the Case of the Euro Area", *Journal of Common Market Studies*, Vol. 50 No. 6 pp. 881-898

European Commission (2005), *Internal Market Scoreboard*, DG Internal Market, European Commission, Brussels, (14).

European Commission (2014), Proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on structural measures improving the resilience of EU credit institutions, COM/2014/043 final.

Farrell, M. (2005), "The Global Politics of Regionalism: An Introduction", in: M. Farrell, B. Brussels, 28.11.2012

Fernandez-Villaverde, J., Garicano, L., and Santos, T. (2013): "Political Credit Cycles: The Case of the Euro Zone", NBER Working Paper No. 18899, March.

European Commission (2012), "A blueprint for a deep and genuine economic and monetary union: Launching a European Debate, COM (2012) 777 final

Hettne and L. Van Langenhove (eds.), *Global Politics of Regionalism*, Pluto Books, London, pp. 1-17.

Feng, Y. and G.M. Genna (2003), "Regional Integration and Domestic Institutional Homogeneity: A Comparative Analysis of Regional Integration in the Americas, Pacific Asia and Western Europe", *Review of International Political Economy*, 10(2):278-309.

Feng, Y. and G.M. Genna (2004), "Domestic Institutional Convergence and Regional Integration: Further Evidence", in: I.D. Salavrakos (ed.), *Aspects of Globalization, Regionalisation and Business*, Athens: Atiner.



Feng, Y. and G.M. Genna (2005), "Measuring Regional Integration", paper presented at the *Claremont Regional Integration Workshop with Particular Reference to Asia*, Claremont, 25 February 2005.

Frankel, J. and A. Rose (1998), "The Endogeneity of the Optimum Currency Area Criteria", *The Economic Journal*, 108:1009-1025.

Gleditsch, K.S. (2002), "Expanded Trade and GDP Data." *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 46(5): 712-724.

Guiso, L., P. Sapienza, L. Zingales (2014), "Monnet's Error?" *Economic Studies*, Fall 2014 Brooking Panel on Economic Activity, September 11-12.

Haas, E. B. (1958), The uniting of Europe: political, social, and economic forces, 1950-1957, Stanford University Press.

Hettne, B. and F. Söderbaum (2000), "Theorizing the Rise of Regionness", *New Political Economy*, 5(3):457-473.

Hufbauer, G.C. and J.J. Schott (1994), *Western Hemisphere Economic Integration* Institute for International Economics, Washington.

Iapadre, L. (2006), "Regional Integration and the Geography of World Trade. Statistical Indicators and Empirical Evidence", in: P. De Lombaerde (ed.), *Assessment and Measurement of Regional Integration*, Routledge, London, pp. 66-85.

Ioannou, D. and L. Stracca (2014), "Have euro area and EU economic governance worked? Just the facts", *European Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 34, pp. 1-17

Jonung L. and E. Drea (2009), "The euro: It can't happen, It's a bad idea, It won't last. US economists on the EMU, 1989-2002," *European Economy – Economic Papers 395*, Directorate General Economic and Monetary Affairs (DG ECFIN), European Commission.

Juncker J.-C., (2014), "A New Start for Europe: My Agenda for Jobs, Growth, Fairness and Democratic Change", Strasbourg 15 July 2014, see http://ec.europa.eu/about/juncker-commission/ docs/pg_en.pdf

Jung, A, P. Moutot and FP Mongelli (2010) "How are the Eurosystem's Monetary Policy Decisions Prepared?", *Journal of Common Market Studies*, Vol. 48.2 pp. 319-345.

Krugman, P., (1993), "Lessons of Massachusetts for EMU". In Francisco Torres, and Francesco Giavazzi (eds.) Adjustment and Growth in the European Monetary Union,, pp. 241-269.

Krugman, P. (1998), "What's new about the new economic geography?", Oxford Review of Economic Policy, Vol. 14, pp. 7-17.

Leuffen, D., B. Rittberger, and F. Schimmelfennig (2012), *Differentiated Integration: Explaining Variation in the European Union*, E-Book, European Union Series, Palgrave McMillan.



REFERENCES

Mayer (2012): Europe's Unfinished Currency: The Political Economics of the Euro, Anthem Press.

McNamara (2014), "The Eurozone's Forgotten "Embeddedness:" Lessons from Past Monetary Unions), mimeo.

Meade T.E, (1957) "The Balance of Payment Problem of a European Free Trade Area", *The Economic Journal*, Vol 67 Rr. 267 pp. 379-396.

Mersch, Y. (2013) "Towards a European Banking Union", Speech at The Bridge Forum Dialogue, Luxembourg, http://www.ecb.europa.eu/press/key/date/2013/html/sp130930_1.en.html.

Mongelli, F.P., E. Dorrucci and I. Agur (2007), "What does European Institutional Integration tell us about Trade Integration?", *Integration & Trade*, 26(11):151-200.

Mongelli, FP. (2013), "The mutating euro area crisis – Is the balance between 'sceptics' and 'advocates' shifting?", ECB Occasional Paper Series, No 144.

Monnet, J. (1978), Memoirs, London.

Monti, M. (2010), *A New Strategy for the Single Market* (also known as "Monti Report on the Single Market"), http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/strategy/docs/monti_report_final_10_05_2010_en.pdf (May).

Mundell, R. (1961), "A Theory of Optimum Currency Areas", The American Economic Review, Vol. 51, No. 4 (September), pp. 657-665.

Nardo, M. et al. (2005), Handbook on Constructing Composite Indicators: Methodology and User Guide, OECD: Paris, [STD/DOC(2005)3].

Niemann, A. and D. Ioannou (2015) "European economic integration in times of crisis: a case of neofunctionalism?", *Journal of European Public Policy*, Special Issue, Volume 22, Issue No. 3.

OECD (2005), "Handbook on constructing composite indicators: Methodology and user guide".

Padoa-Schioppa, T. (2000): "The European Union and the Nation State: The Hume Lecture 2000", The David Hume Institute, Hume Occasional Paper 58.

Padoa-Schioppa, T. (2001): "Is a Euroland banking system already emerging?", in Balling, Hochreiter and Hennessy (eds.), *Adapting to Financial Integration*, London-New York, Routeledge.

Padoa-Schioppa, T. (2004a): The Euro and Its Central Bank. Getting United After the Euro, Cambridge (MA): MIT Press.

Padoa-Schioppa, T. (2004b): *Europe: A Civil Power: Lessons from EU Experience,* London, Federal Trust for Education and Research.

Prakash, A. and J.A. Hart (2000), "Indicators of Economic Integration", *Global Governance*, 6:95-114.

Sapir A. (2011) "European Integration at the Crossroads: A Review Essay on the 50th Anniversary of Bela Balassa's *Theory of Economic Integration*", Journal of Economic Literature, Volume XLIX, nr. 4 pp. 1200-1229.

Sapir A. and G. Wolff (2014) "EU to DO 2015-2019: Memos to the new EU leadership 4th September 2014", Bruegel e-book at http://www.bruegel.org/scholars/scholar-detail/ scholar/213-guntram-b-wolff/

Sinn, H-W. and Valentinyi, A. (2103), "European imbalances", Vox.EU, 9 March, http://www.voxeu.org/article/european-imbalances

Scharpf, F., (2011), Monetary Union, Fiscal Crisis and the Preemption of Democracy", MPIfG Discussion Paper, Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung

Schoenmaker, D. (2011), "The financial trilemma", Economic Letters, 111 (2011), pp. 57-59.

Schuknecht L., P. Moutot, P. Rother, and J. Stark (2011) "The Stability and Growth Pact: Crisis and Reform", ECB Occasional Paper nr. 129, http://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/scpops/ecbocp129.pdf

Shambaugh, J.C. (2012), "The Euro's Three Crises", *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, Spring.

Siedentop, L. (2000), Democracy in Europe, London, Penguin.

Söderbaum, F. (2005), "Exploring the Links between Micro-Regionalism and Macro-Regionalism", in: M. Farrell, B. Hettne and L. Van Langenhove (eds), *Global Politics of Regionalism*, London-Ann Arbor: Pluto Books, pp.87-103.

Van Rompuy, H. (2012) "Towards a Genuine Economic and Monetary Union", in collaboration with the Presidents of the European Commission, Eurogroup and the ECB, European Council, June, October and December, http://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cms_data/docs/pressdata/en/ec/131201.pdf

Véron N. (2014), "Defining Europe's Capital Markets Union", *Bruegel Policy Contribution*, Issue 2014/12, 13 November.

Wu, J.P. (2006), "Measuring and Explaining Levels of Regional Economic Integration", in: P. De Lombaerde (ed.), *Assessment and Measurement of Regional Integration*, Routledge, London, pp. 162-179.

